

Consortium for Research on Educational Access, Transitions and Equity

Access, Attendance and Achievement in Rural Schools in Sri Lanka

> Angela W. Little H.N. Upul Indika Caine Rolleston

CREATE PATHWAYS TO ACCESS Research Monograph No. 73

November 2011





Leading education and social research Institute of Education University of London

The Institute of Education, University of London, UK



The Consortium for Educational Access, Transitions and Equity (CREATE) is a Research Programme Consortium supported by the UK Department for International Development (DFID). Its purpose is to undertake research designed to improve access to basic education in developing countries. It seeks to achieve this through generating new knowledge and encouraging its application through effective communication and dissemination to national and international development agencies, national governments, education and development professionals, non-government organisations and other interested stakeholders.

Access to basic education lies at the heart of development. Lack of educational access, and securely acquired knowledge and skill, is both a part of the definition of poverty, and a means for its diminution. Sustained access to meaningful learning that has value is critical to long term improvements in productivity, the reduction of inter-generational cycles of poverty, demographic transition, preventive health care, the empowerment of women, and reductions in inequality.

The CREATE partners

CREATE is developing its research collaboratively with partners in Sub-Saharan Africa and South Asia. The lead partner of CREATE is the Centre for International Education at the University of Sussex. The partners are:

The Centre for International Education, University of Sussex: Professor Keith M Lewin (Director) The Institute of Education and Development, BRAC University, Dhaka, Bangladesh: Dr Manzoor Ahmed The National University of Educational Planning and Administration, Delhi, India: Professor R Govinda The Education Policy Unit, University of the Witwatersrand, South Africa: Dr Shireen Motala The Universities of Education at Winneba and Cape Coast, Ghana: Professor Jerome Djangmah, Professor Joseph Ghartey Ampiah The Institute of Education, University of London: Professor Angela W Little

Disclaimer

The research on which this paper is based was commissioned by the Consortium for Research on Educational Access, Transitions and Equity (CREATE http://www.create-rpc.org). CREATE is funded by the UK Department for International Development (DFID) for the benefit of developing countries and is coordinated from the Centre for International Education, University of Sussex. The views expressed are those of the author(s) and not necessarily those of DFID, the University of Sussex, or the CREATE Team. Authors are responsible for ensuring that any content cited is appropriately referenced and acknowledged, and that copyright laws are respected. CREATE papers are peer reviewed and approved according to academic conventions. Permission will be granted to reproduce research monographs on request to the Director of CREATE providing there is no commercial benefit. Responsibility for the content of the final publication remains with authors and the relevant Partner Institutions.

Copyright © CREATE 2011 ISBN: 0-901881-87-2

Address for correspondence: CREATE, Centre for International Education, Department of Education School of Education & Social Work Essex House, University of Sussex, Falmer BN1 9QQ United Kingdom

| a.little@ioe.ac.uk |
|---------------------------|
| hnuindika@yahoo.com |
| m_rolleston@yahoo.com |
| http://www.create-rpc.org |
| create@sussex.ac.uk |
| |

Access, Attendance and Achievement in Rural Schools in Sri Lanka

Angela W. Little H.N. Upul Indika Caine Rolleston

CREATE PATHWAYS TO ACCESS Research Monograph No. 73

November 2011

Contents

| Preface | . vii |
|---|-------|
| Summary | viii |
| 1. Access to Basic Education in Sri Lanka | 1 |
| 1.1 Introduction | 1 |
| 1.2 Policies on Education Access | 1 |
| 1.3 Access Policy Outcomes | 3 |
| 1.4 Academic Achievement | 5 |
| 1.5 Disparities in Access and Achievement | 6 |
| 2. Communities and Households | 8 |
| 2.1 Introduction and Methods | 8 |
| 2.2 Profile of the Case Communities | 8 |
| 2.2.1 Madugalle | 8 |
| 2.2.2 Nachchaduwa | . 10 |
| 2.2.3 Park Estate | . 12 |
| 2.3 Profile of Households | . 13 |
| 2.3.1 Demographic characteristics | . 13 |
| 2.3.2 Household Assets | . 13 |
| 2.3.3 Housing Index | . 14 |
| 2.3.4 Education Assets in the Home | . 14 |
| 2.3.5 Household Members' Education Status | . 14 |
| 2.3.6 Educational Status of Children 5-16 Years | . 16 |
| 2.3.7 Parental Expectations for their Children | . 16 |
| 3. School Profiles | . 18 |
| 3.1 Madugalle School | . 18 |
| 3.2 Nachchaduwa School | . 18 |
| 3.3. Park Estate school | . 19 |
| 3.4 Methodist School | . 22 |
| 3.5 School Practices Designed to Reduce Exclusion | . 23 |
| 3.5.1 Initial Enrolment (Zone 1) | . 23 |
| 3.5.2 Over-age Enrolment (Zone 1) | . 24 |
| 3.5.3 Irregular Attendance (Zone 3 and 6) | . 24 |
| 3.5.4 Dropout (Zones 2 and 5) | . 25 |
| 3.5.5 Low Achievement (Zone 3 and 6) | . 26 |
| 4. Predicting Exclusion | . 27 |
| 4.1 Zones 0, 1, 2, 4 and 5 | . 27 |
| 4.2 Zones 3 and 6 | . 28 |
| 4.2.1 Absence/Attendance | . 30 |
| 4.2.2 Grade 5 Examination | . 31 |
| 4.2.3 School Test Performance | . 32 |
| 4.2.4 GCE O level Performance | . 33 |
| 4.2.5 Attending Private Tuition | . 34 |
| 4.3 Synthesis of Findings | . 34 |
| 5. Conclusions | . 38 |
| References | . 42 |
| | |

List of Tables

| Table 1: Trends in education provision and attainment, 1950-2008 | 3 |
|---|----|
| Table 2: National assessments of learning outcomes, grades 4 and 8 | 6 |
| Table 3: Sources of household income, Madugalle | 9 |
| Table 4: Sources of household income, Nachchaduwa | 11 |
| Table 5: Sources of household income, Park | 12 |
| Table 6: Dependency ratio, Madugalle, Nachchaduwa and Park | 13 |
| Table 7: Educational status of household members aged 21 years and over, Madugalle, | |
| Nachchaduwa and Park | 14 |
| Table 8: Age of enrolled child by grade of current enrolment, 2008, Nachchaduwa | 19 |
| Table 9: Highest grade completed by dropouts | 27 |
| Table 10: Descriptive statistics for variables included in the analysis of absence, | |
| achievement and private tuition | 29 |
| Table 11: Descriptive statistics for variables included in the analysis of absence, | |
| achievement and private tuition by community | 29 |
| Table 12: Variables associated with absence from school | 31 |
| Table 13: Variables associated with grade 5 examination | 32 |
| Table 14: Variables associated with achievement in school tests (z-scores) | 33 |
| Table 15: Variables associated with GCE O level results | 33 |
| Table 16: Variables associated with private tuition (probit): Marginal effects | 34 |
| Table 17: Variables associated with absence and achievement outcomes across | |
| communities | 35 |
| Table 18: Variables associated with absence and achievement outcomes within | |
| communities | 36 |

List of Acronyms

| CDMA | Code Division Multiple Access (telephone) |
|--------|---|
| CREATE | Consortium for Research on Educational Access, Transitions and Equity |
| EFA | Education for All |
| GCE O | General Certificate of Education Ordinary Level |
| GCE A | General Certificate of Education Advanced Level |
| GER | Gross Enrolment Ratio |
| ISA | In-Service Advisor |
| MDG | Millennium Development Goal |
| M.V. | Madhya Vidyalaya |
| NER | Net Enrolment Ratio |
| NIE | National Institute of Education |
| OLS | Ordinary Least Squares |
| PCA | Principal Components Analysis |
| Q1 | Lowest Quintile |
| Q5 | Highest Quintile |
| Rs. | Sri Lanka Rupees |
| SLPS | Sri Lanka Principal's Service |
| SLTS | Sri Lanka Teacher's Service |
| STR | Student Teacher Ratio |
| TMV | Tamil Madhya Vidyalayam |

Acknowledgements

We are grateful to Professor Siri Hettige of the University of Colombo for working in partnership with CREATE and for hosting the field work. The field work was coordinated by H.N. Upul Indika and the field assistants were D.M.Sumith, S.Puvenendran, Gihani De Silva, Nazeeha Ansar, V.P. Nihal Kumara, K.S.L. Siriwardhana, Safrani, Nasfa, Munavvara, S. Kalyani and J. Nanthini Malar. We are also grateful to Professor Hettige and Professor Swarna Jayeweera for comments on earlier drafts of this report.

The research would not have been possible without the active participation of community members, school principals and teachers and local government officers in the villages of Madugalle and Nachchaduwa and in the Park Estate and the nearby Methodist school in Kandapola. We dedicate this study to them and to their continuing efforts to increase access to high quality teaching and learning in their schools.

Preface

This is a detailed and meticulous study based on evidence from three rural case study sites including over 650 children. It is important for CREATE in a number of ways. First Sri Lanka provides a context where there is virtually full enrolment, and very little drop out until the end of the nine years of basic education. Few children are 'over-age' and there is little repetition. This has been achieved despite low levels of income and a remarkably small commitment of public financing to education of less than 2% of GDP. And it has been sustained for at least the last two decades. Second, though participation is high, inequalities persist. The three communities show that behind the impressive national achievements, there remain pockets of under achievement and vulnerability. Generous subsidies have reached down to rural populations to make the direct costs of schooling to households affordable. Despite this differences in achievement persist and these are associated with parental levels of education, location, access to private tutoring, and health status. Community effects predict absenteeism and tuition. Within communities absence and household size correlate with poor performance. Poverty remains linked to absenteeism and poor health status.

These case studies highlight how concerns for physical access have been overtaken by issues more concerned with the equity of access to similar learning opportunities, with quality of learning, and with more effective ways of managing disadvantage that could lessen differences in learning outcomes.

The case studies also indicate the need to develop more refined Zones of Exclusion for use when drop out ceases to be a major issue (Zone 2 and 5) and where silent exclusion among those enrolled but learning little (Zones 3 and 6) does not lead to physical exclusion. But nor does physical inclusion lead to effective enrichment and remediation to lessen the learning gap between the highest and lowest achievers.

Sri Lanka's success in achieving Education for All is a reminder of what is possible through consistent policy, political will and effectively managed resources, and that physical access is only part of an expanded vision of access that should define Education for All.

Keith M. Lewin Director of CREATE Centre for International Education University of Sussex

Summary

Historically, Sri Lanka has performed well on most indicators of progress towards Education for All and the Millennium Development Goals. Nationally, enrolment in some form of pre-school provision is high, enrolment in primary education near universal and completion of nine years of compulsory, basic education is around 90%. At the same time, achievement levels are low, with disparities between provinces, type of school attended, location, medium of instruction and gender.

This monograph records research undertaken in three diverse rural communities comprising 397 households, 1,952 household members and 657 children aged 5-16 years. Household survey interviews were complemented by interviews with local officials, school principals and teachers and by analysis of school records. School level practices designed to improve attendance and achievement are described.

The CREATE model and its Zones of Exclusion are used to describe the inclusion/exclusion status of these 657 children. Descriptive statistics are used to describe inclusion and exclusion in Zone 0 (excluded from pre-schooling), Zone 1 (never-enrolled and unlikely to attend school), Zone 2 (drop out before completion of primary education), Zone 4 (non transition from primary to secondary) and Zone 5 (dropout before completion of secondary). Ordinary Least Squares and Community Fixed Effects regression models are used to assess the predictive power of a range of household and child characteristics in Zones 3 and 6 (at risk of dropout for reasons of low attendance, repetition and low achievement and silent exclusion from learning in primary and secondary education respectively).

Our findings suggest that there are strong rural community effects in the prediction of absenteeism and attendance at private tuition. Within communities, student achievement at Grade 5 performance is associated positively with the vernacular literacy level of the adult household member and attendance at private tuition. Performance on school-based tests is associated negatively with absence from school and household size, and positively with education assets at home and adult literacy in the vernacular and in English. Performance in the GCE O level examination is associated with the housing index, with private tuition and with adult literacy in English. Attendance at private tuition is associated positively with the availability of education assets at home and negatively with household size. Absenteeism is associated with economic status, as indicated by a housing index, and health problems.

The main challenges facing Sri Lanka currently lie in increasing the achievement levels of all social groups and in reducing dropout in the early secondary grades. Disparities need to be reduced between girls and boys, between urban and rural areas, between school types and between income groups in terms of enrolment in junior secondary and senior secondary education.

Conceptually the study adds to the CREATE model through a modification of the definition of Zones 3 and 6. In the Sri Lankan case dropout rates are very low and the reasons appear to be related to the child's 'dislike of school' and household factors. Dislike of school may in turn be related to low achievement and absenteeism, though probably not repetition. It is suggested that Zones 3 and 6 be extended to 3A and 6A to refer to those who are at risk of remaining in school but dropping out of learning because of a failure to achieve sufficient learning at one level in order to learn effectively at the next.

Access, Attendance and Achievement in Rural Schools in Sri Lanka

1. Access to Basic Education in Sri Lanka

1.1 Introduction

The CREATE model of educational access employs the concept of Zones of Exclusion (<u>www.create-rpc.com</u>). It focuses on children excluded from basic education according to several types of exclusion, termed 'zones'. The Zones are:

Zone 0 children who are excluded from pre-schooling

Zone 1 children who have never been to school, and are unlikely to attend school **Zone 2** children who enter primary schooling, but who drop out before completing the primary cycle

Zone 3 children who enter primary schooling and are enrolled but are 'at risk' of dropping out before completion as a result of irregular attendance, low achievement, and silent exclusion from worthwhile learning

Zone 4 children who fail to make the transition to secondary school grades

Zone 5 children who enter secondary schooling but who drop out before completing the cycle

Zone 6 children who enter secondary schooling and are enrolled but are 'at risk' of dropping out before completion as a result of irregular attendance, low achievement and silent exclusion from worthwhile learning

Historically, Sri Lanka has achieved much in terms of provision of basic education. Among the international development community Sri Lanka has been hailed for her achievements in literacy, educational enrolment and equality of educational opportunity. Pre-school facilities (Zone 0) in Sri Lanka are increasingly available, mainly in the private sector. Very few children fail to enrol in Grade 1 (Zone 1) and dropout rates at primary and secondary (Zones 2 and 5) are very low by South Asian standards (Korale, 2004). Repetition rates are low and transition rates from the primary to the secondary grades education are high (Zone 4). It is in Zones 3 and 6, in which children who are enrolled in primary and secondary education respectively, but are 'at risk' of dropping out before completion as a result of irregular attendance, low achievement, and silent exclusion from worthwhile learning, where challenges arise (Jayeweera, Sanmugam and Ratnapala, 2001, Jayeweera, Gunawardene and Maunaguru, 2004)).

The purpose of this study is to explore education access in Sri Lanka in the light of equity-oriented education policies over many decades (Section 1), apply the CREATE model of Zones of exclusion to describe access to education in three rural communities (Sections 2-3), analyse community and household level differences in school attendance and achievement (Section 4), and to reflect on contemporary policy and practices in the light of these findings (Section 5).

1.2 Policies on Education Access

Policy interventions to improve access to education in Sri Lanka can be traced to at least as far back as the nineteenth century when the British colonial government made grants in aid available to a range of religious bodies to expand access to schooling. As early as the early twentieth century, ordinances were introduced (but not enforced) to make education compulsory in both town and rural areas. And already by 1911 the adult male literacy rate was 43% and the female 12%. Free vernacular-medium (i.e. Sinhala or Tamil) primary education was provided by the government from the late nineteenth century.

Enlightened policies for social development were introduced in the 1930s and 1940s in the run up to independence. In the 1940s the Free Education Bill was based on the concept of the right to education and embraced free education from kindergarten to university. With its focus on the entire education system it was more inclusive than the international declarations of EFA at Jomtien (1990) and Dakar (2000) which have focussed on basic education. Although vernacular medium primary education had been fee free for decades, the significance of the Free Education Bill lay in the opening up of opportunities for poor families in rural areas to a fee-free education in the Englishmedium. Since English medium education provided the best channel to economic opportunity later in life, this initiative provided a huge fillip to the general level of social demand for education, even if subsequent measures to relegate English as a medium of instruction stymied the economic advantages that an English-medium education conferred (Jayasuriya, 1979, Little, 1999, 2010).

Successive governments after independence in 1948 placed considerable emphasis on social development, especially in education and health. Power swings and regime changes between Sri Lanka's two major political parties in the early years after independence did not reduce commitments to fee-free education from the primary stage through to the secondary and tertiary stages of education. Moreover, in the two decades after independence the intergenerational benefits of education became apparent. Children were born to families where both parents were educated to at least the primary level, and often more. These parents had begun to see the benefits of education and wanted these same benefits and more for their own children. Parental perceptions and aspirations provided another fillip to the social demand for education (Aturupane, 2009).

In the current context Sri Lanka has a wide array of demand-side and supply-side policies in place to promote school enrolment and attendance, many of which have been in place for a long time (World Bank, 2011, MOE (forthcoming). Demand-side policies include

- Education is provided free from tuition costs in all government primary and secondary schools.
- Free material for a school uniform for each child each year.
- A set of free textbooks for each child for each subject
- Subsidized transport in buses and trains.
- Free school meals for children in primary classes in poor areas.
- The enactment of compulsory education legislation, making it a legal requirement for all children aged 6-14 years to complete nine years of education, supported by the appointment of local school attendance committees

Supply-side policies include

- A comprehensive network of primary and secondary schools in the country, with the availability of access to the primary stage of education available within two kilometres of home and to the secondary stage within five kilometres of all households
- Automatic progression from Grades 1-11.

- Special education programmes for children with special learning needs.
- Non-formal education programmes for adolescents who either never enrolled in school or dropped out at a young age, and who need skills for the labour market. Non-formal education is offered through functional activity learning centres for children and a network of community learning centres for children over 16 years of age.

1.3 Access Policy Outcomes

The results of the policies of longstanding are apparent in Table 1, which shows the trends in education provision in government schools and literacy attainment over the six decades since independence.

Between 1950 and 1991 the number of government schools and the number of students increased more than threefold, and the number of teachers almost fivefold. Student teacher ratios (STRs) decreased from 35:1 to 24:1, while the adult literacy rate increased from 65% to 87%. Declining birth rates in the 1980s led to a decline in grade 1 admissions from the early 1990s and to a reduction in the numbers of places that needed to be provided. Between 1991 and 2008 the number of students in government schools declined from 4.26 million to 3.93 million, while the number of teachers increased by 20%, resulting in a decrease in the STR from 24:1 to 18:1. Over the same period the adult literacy rate increased slightly from 87% to 93%.

| | 1950 | 1960 | 1971 | 1981 | 1991 | 2002 | 2008 |
|---------------------------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|
| Government schools | 3,188 | 4,394 | 8,585 | 9,521 | 9,998 | 9,826 | 9,662 |
| Students in government | 1,349,345 | 2,192,379 | 2,828,070 | 3,451,358 | 4,258,698 | 4,027,075 | 3,929,234 |
| schools | | | | | | | |
| Teachers in government | 38,086 | 69,658 | 94,858 | 135,869 | 177,231 | 191,812 | 212,683 |
| schools | | | | | | | |
| STR in government Schools | 35 | 31 | 30 | 25 | 24 | 21 | 18 |
| Student:School ratio | 423 | 499 | 329 | 362 | 426 | 410 | 406 |
| Adult literacy rate | 65 | 72 | 79 | 87 | 87 | 91 | 93 |

Table 1: Trends in education provision and attainment, 1950-2008¹

Approximately 92% of children currently in school attend government schools. The remaining 8% attend private schools, *pirivena* (temple) schools and international schools (World Bank, 2011). Schools are classifiable along a number of dimensions, including whether they are managed by the country's nine provinces (the majority) or the central Ministry of Education (a minority), whether they offer most of their courses in the vernacular languages of Sinhala or Tamil (the majority) or English (a minority) and whether they are graded as Type 1AB, Type 1C, Type 2 or Type 3. Type 1AB schools, comprising 7% of the total number of government schools enrol students from Grades 1-13 or 6-13 and offer GCE A level courses in Science, Commerce and Arts. Type 1C schools, comprising 21% of the total, offer the same grade spans and GCE A level classes in Arts and/or Commerce. Type 2 schools, comprising 42% of the total, enrol students

¹ Source: Figures for 1950-2002 are drawn from Aturupane (2009) and based on Department of Census and Statistics, Ministry of Education and Central Bank of Sri Lanka. Literacy rates are for Census Years, 1953, 1963, 1971, 1981 and 2001 respectively. The literacy rate for 1991 is estimated from the Household Survey. The rate noted for 2008 is the 2006 Household Survey figure. School data for 2008 are based on the Ministry of Education, School Census, Preliminary Report, 2008

from Grade 1-11 or 6-11. Type 3 schools, comprising 30% of the total, enrol students from Grades 1-5 (MOE, 2010).

By 2008 Sri Lanka's net enrolment ratio (NER) was estimated to be 99% among boys and girls in primary education (Grades 1-5). Approximately 99% of boys and nearly 100% of girls completed primary education. The basic education cycle in Sri Lanka extends to Grade 9 and all children are expected by law to enter Grade 1 at 5+ and to complete nine years of education by the age of 14. The survival rate to the end of Grade 9 is 93% for girls and 89% for boys. The senior secondary stage of education spans Grades 10-13, with high stakes national examinations at Grade 11 (GCE O level) and Grade 13 (GCE A level). In 2006/7 the NER in senior secondary education was 69% for girls and 65% for boys (World Bank, 2011).

Nationally, dropout rates in primary education are very low at $0.7\%^2$ and 0.5% for males and females respectively. They increase at secondary level to 7.1% and 4.6% for males and females in Grades 6-10 respectively (MOE, 2008). The greater availability of paid work for boys is sometimes cited as a reason for their higher rates of dropout from secondary education (World Bank, 2011).

Our three case-study communities are located in the districts of Kandy, Nuwara-Eliya and Anuradhapura. In 2008 the dropout rates of students from Grades 6-10 were, in the Kandy district, lower than the national average (3.5% and 2.1% for males and females), around the national average in Anuradhapura district (7.2% and 4.7%) and higher than the national average in Nuwara-Eliya district (10.5% and 6.2%).

With a national policy of automatic promotion from grade to grade, repetition rates are very low. In 2008 the national repetition rates for Grades 1-5 were 1.0% for males and 0.7% for females. The rates in Kandy district were lower than the national average (0.4% and 0.2%), around the national average in Anuradhapura district (1.0% and 0.9%) and higher than the national average in Nuwara-Eliya district (1.5% and 1.2%). This repetition pattern was repeated in the post primary grades of Grades 6-10. The national figures for males and females were 1.8% and 1.0%; in Kandy district 0.5% and 0.2%, in Anuradhapura district 1.8% and 1.0% and in Nuwara-Eliya district 2.1% and 1.5%.

Principals, teachers, children and their families give different reasons or at least different priorities to the reasons for dropping out. Principals and teachers attribute dropout to parental illiteracy, poverty, parental disinterest, absent parents, children's disinterest. Children and their families are more likely to attribute dropout to children's lack of interest in learning or the heavy burden of the curriculum. School-related reasons for dropping out include unfriendly schools, teacher absence, weak teachers, poor teaching, heavy school curriculum, poor schools facilities, learning difficulties, difficulties faced by children in making up work lost because of absence and teachers who do not pay attention to the needs of individual pupils (Ministry of Education and UNICEF conference report, 2010). Clearly there is a wide range of factors that contribute to dropout, the reduction of which involves intervention at both the school and community level.

² Percentages for dropout and repetition rates are rounded

These figures suggest that the EFA and Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) on enrolment and gender equity have been close to being achieved over a long period of time, especially in relation to other countries in the South Asia region. However, completion of nine years of basic education falls some way short of 100%.

Sri Lanka's quantitative achievements are all the more remarkable given her rather low percentage of GDP spent on education and the extremely high proportion of students attending fee-free government schools. Between 2001 and 2010 government education expenditure as a proportion of GDP ranged from a high of 2.67% in 2006 to a low of 1.86% in 2010.

Low government expenditure on education is compensated for by household expenditures. Although most children attend government schools that do not charge tuition fees, most schools charge 'facilities fees' and a number of other costs are met by families (e.g. exercise books, pens/pencils, equipment, text books, boarding fees, donations and private tuition). Furthermore, large numbers of children attend private tuition. In 2001 the highest income decile households spent 5.4% of non food expenditure on education and the lowest income decile 0.4%. By 2009/10 these proportionate expenditures had increased to 5.9% and 1.8% respectively (Department of Census and Statistics, 2002 and 2011).

1.4 Academic Achievement

High levels of access are counterbalanced by rather lower achievement in respect of academic performance. Low achievement levels have given rise to concern in recent years, resulting in a series of National Assessments of Learning starting in 2003. Table 2 presents the results of national assessments of achievement in Grades 4, 8 and 10 undertaken by the National Education Research and Evaluation Centre (NEREC) in recent years.

Table 2 indicates the increasing proportions over time of Grade 4 children who achieve at least 50% in first language (Sinhala and Tamil), mathematics and English assessments. These tests are based on the Essential Learning Competencies (ELCs) designed by the National Institute of Education (NIE) for these subjects (NEREC, 2009). ELCs are viewed as essential for progression to subsequent grades of the curriculum. The official expectation is that the 'mastery' of essential competencies implies success in 80% of the essential learning competencies, not 50%. Using a cut-off score of 80% instead of 50%, 52% fail to reach mastery levels in First Language, 47% in Mathematics and 81% in English. Compared with official expectations, performance among large proportions of the Grade 4 population therefore remains low (NEREC, 2009).

The achievement scores for Grades 8 in first language, science and technology and mathematics are presented as mean scores. In general these hover at around 50% and are lowest in mathematics. Mean scores in Grade 8, the penultimate year of basic education, improved between 2005 and 2008 and varied between 50 and 60% in first language, science and technology and mathematics in 2008 (NEREC, 2008).

| e | Grade 4 Proportion of students scoring over 50 % | | | | | | | | | |
|-----|--|------------|------|------|-----------|------|---------|------|------|--|
| inc | Fi | rst Langua | ge | Ν | Mathemati | cs | English | | | |
| ΓΟV | 2003 | 2007 | 2009 | 2003 | 2007 | 2009 | 2003 | 2007 | 2009 | |
| P | | | | | | | | | | |
| WP | 81.7 | 88.2 | 86.3 | 80.5 | 88.8 | 86.5 | 53.1 | 68.0 | 74.1 | |
| СР | 67.0 | 79.4 | 78.5 | 63.5 | 79.0 | 76.8 | 31.6 | 44.6 | 55.9 | |
| SP | 72.0 | 83.3 | 86.1 | 71.5 | 84.5 | 85.2 | 36.0 | 54.8 | 62.4 | |
| NP | 61.0 | 78.7 | 83.7 | 53.3 | 76.5 | 79.5 | 22.9 | 39.9 | 54.8 | |
| EP | 57.7 | 72.7 | 73.7 | 52.3 | 74.6 | 70.2 | 21.9 | 44.3 | 41.9 | |
| NWP | 75.1 | 85.5 | 87.1 | 74.0 | 85.7 | 86.4 | 32.0 | 54.9 | 64.8 | |
| NCP | 70.7 | 83.4 | 83.1 | 72.1 | 84.5 | 81.8 | 29.3 | 43.3 | 50.6 | |
| UP | 64.2 | 77.4 | 79.8 | 62.5 | 78.1 | 80.8 | 27.3 | 40.3 | 51.9 | |
| SaP | 70.8 | 81.4 | 86.5 | 68.5 | 82.6 | 87.1 | 33.4 | 46.7 | 64.2 | |
| SL | 68.9 | 81.1 | 82.9 | 66.5 | 81.5 | 81.8 | 31.9 | 48.5 | 58.4 | |

Table 2: National assessments of learning outcomes, grades 4 and 8

| | Grade 8 mean values | | | | | | | | | |
|-----|---------------------|---------|-------------|-----------|-------------|-------|--|--|--|--|
| | First L | anguage | Science & T | echnology | Mathematics | | | | | |
| | 2005 | 2008 | 2005 | 2008 | 2005 | 2008 | | | | |
| WP | 63.30 | 64.13 | 56.73 | 63.78 | 48.45 | 56.90 | | | | |
| СР | 59.10 | 51.62 | 52.85 | 57.54 | 44.83 | 49.30 | | | | |
| SP | 58.80 | 59.08 | 50.33 | 56.06 | 44.27 | 48.64 | | | | |
| NP | 58.36 | 59.27 | 55.68 | 47.09 | 43.72 | 47.53 | | | | |
| EP | 57.79 | 57.14 | 53.15 | 48.69 | 44.78 | 45.98 | | | | |
| NWP | 61.04 | 65.21 | 51.34 | 59.38 | 45.26 | 52.69 | | | | |
| NCP | 60.43 | 58.97 | 47.29 | 56.12 | 46.94 | 48.35 | | | | |
| UP | 58.74 | 56.39 | 52.93 | 52.29 | 43.27 | 45.57 | | | | |
| SaP | 59.65 | 61.90 | 54.43 | 58.36 | 44.68 | 50.42 | | | | |
| SL | 59.89 | 59.87 | 53.19 | 56.32 | 45.19 | 50.45 | | | | |

Source: National Education Research and Evaluation Centre (2005, 2007, 2008, 2009). Provinces: WP Western Province; CP Central Province; SP Southern Province; NP Northern Province; EP Eastern Province; NWP North Western Province; NCP North Central Province; UP Uva Province; SaP Sabaragamuwa Province; SL Sri Lanka

1.5 Disparities in Access and Achievement

Despite gradual improvements in mean levels over time, a number of disparities in enrolment and performance persist in the education system.

Enrolment in the primary stage of education (Grades 1-5) is near universal in all provinces. Net enrolment rates are 100% for girls and 99% for boys. Survival rates to the end of the junior secondary stage (Grades 1-6) are 93% for girls and 89% for boys. Net enrolment rates at the senior stage of education (Grades 10-13) are 69% for girls and 65% for boys. Enrolment rates diverge between the poorest and richest income groups at the junior and senior stages of education. At junior secondary, the net enrolment rate ranges from 89 percent for the poorest quintile to 97 percent for the wealthiest quintile. At senior secondary, the income gap in enrolment is considerably greater, ranging from 52 percent for the poorest quintile to 77 percent for the wealthiest quintile (World Bank, 2011).

There are wide disparities in student performance in the national assessments in maths, first language and English at Grade 4 and 8. More developed provinces, such as the Western Province, perform better than less developed areas such as the Northern, Eastern and Uva Provinces. Within provinces, there are disparities in performance between zones and divisions. Students in urban schools perform better in achievement tests than students

in rural and estate schools. Children in Type 1AB schools perform better than children in other types of schools. Primary school-age children in Type 2 schools perform worse than those in Type 1AB, 1C and 3. Students in Tamil medium schools perform worse than students studying in the Sinhala medium. Indeed, in contrast with increasing performance of Sinhala medium students over time, performance of Tamil medium students stagnated or declined between 2007 and 2009.

Girls perform better than boys on average. Students in urban areas typically perform better than students in rural areas. It should also be noted that the distributions of scores vary by subject. In first language and mathematics scores are negatively skewed: more children are achieving high scores than low scores. In English the distribution is bi-modal, indicating distinct groups of high and low performers (NEREC, 2008, 2009).

National achievement data are also available for the competitive Grade 5 scholarship examination, which facilitates access to Grade 6 Type 1AB national schools, managed directly by the central Ministry. In 2008 only 10.9% of all children who sat the exam scored higher than the 'cut-off' mark required for the award of the scholarship. In the three districts where our case communities are located, the percentages are lower: 9.1% in Kandy district, 9.7% in Anuradhapura district and 6.7% in Nuwara-Eliya district.

At the 2008 GCE O level examination, 48.5% of all students who sat more five or more subjects qualified for progression to the GCE A level classes. In the districts where our three case communities are located, the comparable figures were 49.6% (Kandy district), 40.6% (Anuradhapura district) and 37.3% (Nuwara-Eliya district). The lower GCE O level performance of schools in the Nuwara-Eliya district is attributable to several factors, including the remoteness of many habitations and the large proportion of schools that serve children from the estate areas. Historically, schools serving the estate areas were very under-developed compared with schools in the rest of the country, and enrolments in post primary very low (Little, 1999). Their gradual take-over from estate management by the government since the 1980s has led to major improvements in access to primary and post primary, but severe teacher shortages in critical subject areas such as maths, science and English remain.

Disparities in achievement are in part attributable to disparities in teacher deployment. Sri Lanka enjoys an enviable Student Teacher Ratio (STR) across Grades 1-13 of 18.2:1. However, there are wide disparities between schools in the size of the STR, and in the numbers and qualifications of teachers available to teach key subjects such as English in the primary and secondary grades and maths and science in the secondary grades.

2. Communities and Households

2.1 Introduction and Methods

Our detailed exploration of access, absence and achievement was undertaken in three communities. Our choice of communities for study was based on an earlier survey of youth conducted by some members of our team in 2002-3 (Little, ed. various years). Our three communities are rural and diverse (i) Madugalle: a rural Sinhala Buddhist community in Kandy district, (ii) Nachchaduwa: a rural Muslim community in the North Central province and (iii) Park: a rural tea estate Tamil community in Nuwara-Eliya district. Our studies were based on interviews with household members and school principals and analysis of documentary evidence from school records. Additional evidence on the community characteristics were sought from officers in respective Divisional Secretariats.

In each geographically-defined community we surveyed every household with at least one child aged 3-16 years. In Madugalle we surveyed 146 households and 651 household members; in Nachchaduwa 156 households and 762 members, and in Park 95 households and 539 household members. In all, our research has covered 397 households and 1,952 household members, among whom 98% of all children aged between five and sixteen were enrolled in school at the time of the survey. All children had enrolled in school and fourteen children had dropped out.

The household survey and analysis of school records were carried out in Madugalle in October and November 2008, in Nachchaduwa in March and April 2009, and in Park in September and October 2009. Return visits were made during 2010 to all three communities to collect information on student achievement levels (2008) and school attendance (for 2007 and 2008). Further return visits to schools and telephone contacts were made with school principals in 2011 to feed back and discuss results with principals and teachers, to discuss school-based practices to promote access and to complete data collection.

Our key informants were adult household members. Our original intention was to interview the child's primary care giver, assumed in most cases, to be the child's mother. This was not possible in all cases, either because an adult male (usually the father) preferred to be interviewed or because the mother was absent. In these cases we interviewed usually the father or another adult household member. In our subsequent analyses we did not assume that an adult males and adult female in the same household would respond to our questions in the same way. Nor did we assume that males and females in the same household would have the same literacy competencies and practices. Hence we include in our analyses a variable for the gender of the adult household member whom we interviewed.

2.2 Profile of the Case Communities

2.2.1 Madugalle

Madugalle is a traditional Sinhala, Buddhist village, located in the Udadumbara division of the Kandy district in the Central Province, about 180 km from Colombo. This village is named after Madugalle Disaw, a local chief of the Sinhalese King Sri Wickrama Rajasinghe who ruled the Kandyan Kingdom in 1818. On siding with the British against the King, Chief Madugalle was found guilty of high treason, sentenced to death and escaped to an isolated mountain pass subsequently named Madugalle. The village comprises a number of large *walawwas* – large houses symbolising status and wealth. Relatives of those who own the *walawwas* live close by in their own homes and look after the *walawwas* in various ways. The majority of villagers belong to the *Govi* (Cultivators) caste. Others belong to the *Nekathi* (Dancing), *Padu* (Weaving) and *Hena* (Washing) castes. Despite these caste ascriptions, most villagers engage in agriculture, especially rice paddy, vegetable and *chena* cultivation. The majority of households (89%) live in separate dwellings, many of which are located far apart. Two households live in what are described as 'huts'.

The British introduced tobacco cultivation to Madugalle in the nineteenth century and a few small tobacco farms continue to this day. Most of the older generation earn their living from traditional paddy cultivation. Many youth migrate for work to nearby garment factories in Udadumbara (about 14 km away), to Kandy, and to the Katunayake and Biyagama free trade zones in the western province near Colombo. In 2002 we had interviewed 42 youth, aged 15-29, residing at that time in Madugalle. By 2008, only eighteen, or 43% were still residing and working in or near to the village. One had migrated abroad for work, while five had migrated to the capital, Colombo, or the Free Trade Zone in Katunayake. A further five had migrated to another village, and two were in the Security Forces. Eleven youth had left the village with their families and could not be traced.

In 2008, the main source of household income in over half the households was cultivation (58.2%) (see Table 3). Among the 146 household respondents, around a third reported that they had a secondary source of income (Table 3). A small number of households derived their main income from the government sector working in the police, general government workers, or teachers. Three derived their livelihood from a government income support scheme known as *samurdhi*.

| First Income Source | No. | % | Second Income Source | No. | % |
|---------------------|-----|-------|------------------------|-----|-------|
| cultivation | 85 | 58.2 | cultivation | 16 | 28.1 |
| daily paid worker | 13 | 8.9 | daily paid worker | 15 | 26.3 |
| driver | 8 | 5.5 | mason | 5 | 8.8 |
| security | 7 | 4.8 | self-employment | 4 | 7.0 |
| mason | 6 | 4.1 | driver | 4 | 7.0 |
| garment worker | 5 | 3.4 | government worker | 3 | 5.3 |
| carpentry | 4 | 2.7 | carpentry | 2 | 3.5 |
| policeman | 4 | 2.7 | businessman | 2 | 3.5 |
| government worker | 4 | 2.7 | garment worker | 2 | 3.5 |
| samurdhi | 3 | 2.1 | policeman | 1 | 1.8 |
| foreign employment | 2 | 1.4 | labourer | 1 | 1.8 |
| businessman | 2 | 1.4 | waiter | 1 | 1.8 |
| electrician | 1 | 0.7 | working in Middle East | 1 | 1.8 |
| bus conductor | 1 | 0.7 | Total | 57 | 100.0 |
| teaching | 1 | 0.7 | | | |
| Total | 146 | 100.0 | 7 | | |

Table 3: Sources of household income, Madugalle

The general infrastructure level of this isolated village is weak. The road was reconstructed recently after years of neglect but during the rainy season its condition is poor. The Ceylon Transport Board operates a modest public bus service, along with a few private operators. Local government officials judged that most families lived in poor conditions and that the village as a whole was at a 'primary stage of development'. The services of government and private institutions such as police station, banks, medical clinic, pharmacy and hospital are located 14 km away in Udadumbara. For commercial purposes villagers travel further, to Kandy (62km) or Mahiyanganaya (36 km). Most children attend the co-educational Madugalle Maha Vidyalaya, which offers education from Grades 1-13. The school was established more than ninety years ago, in 1920, and most of today's parents and grandparents attended the same school.

2.2.2 Nachchaduwa

Nachchaduwa is a Muslim village, located in the Thirappane division of the Anuradhapura district in the North Central Province, about 210 km from Colombo. Before the beginning of the 20th century Nachchaduwa was a traditional agricultural area with an irrigation tank dating back to very early times. At the beginning of the 20th century, the British reconstructed the tank and its irrigation system, around which a small number of traditional Sinhala-Buddhist families lived. Because these families were unwilling to labour for the British in the maintenance of the irrigation system, the British settled some Muslim families near the tank and in an area that became the present Nachchaduwa town area. They were given lands for paddy cultivation to supplement their work on the irrigation system. The Muslim and Sinhalese families lived in the same general area, with the Muslim population growing at a faster rate than the Sinhalese.

Population growth and a shortage of agricultural land led to overcrowding, dense residential compounds and an expansion of agricultural activities such as cattle-breeding, fishing and trade. Hettige (1992) describes how, by the late 1980s, cattle-breeding, rice milling and shop keeping were confined to a minority of village families. Being non regular, uncertain and subject to fierce competition, fishing and petty trade generated very limited incomes. Education levels, particularly among women, were, at that time, still low and the age of marriage lower than the national average. These factors, combined with land fragmentation, low social mobility, growing landlessness and high unemployment and under-employment rates led to a high dependency ratio and 'shared poverty'. However, growing poverty, landlessness and unemployment did not lead to a disintegration of the community. A strong community organization built around the village mosque acted as a unifying force. It was in this context of poverty that the process of migration to West Asia (Middle East) began. As Hettige (1992:5) records, the first migrant to West Asia, in 1979, was the wife of a petty trader. Notwithstanding the public outcry, other women and men followed, and by the late 1980s 83% of village households included at least one current or returned migrant. The majority of households (97%) live in separate dwellings located close together.

Our study focussed on those living in the Nachchaduwa areas of Kasawa and Pandikulam where the population density is higher than in surrounding areas. Household income derives from a greater range of sources than is found in Madugalle (Table 4). Just 16.1% derive their main income from cultivation while 25.2% derive it from business and 9.1% from work in the government sector as general government workers and as teachers. A small number (16%) reported a secondary source of household income, the majority

(40%) of whom reported remittances from household members working in the Middle East (West Asia)³.

Youth migrate from the village for work. In 2002 we interviewed 42 youth, aged 15-29, residing at that time in Nachchaduwa. In 2009 just over half (55%) still resided in the village. In line with village tradition, nine had migrated abroad for work, two had migrated to another village and eight were no longer residing in the village and could not be traced.

| First Income Source | No. | % | Second Income Source | No. | % |
|-------------------------|-----|-------|------------------------|-----|-------|
| cultivation | 25 | 16.1 | working in Middle East | 10 | 40.0 |
| self-employment | 2 | 1.3 | businessman | 4 | 16.0 |
| carpentry | 3 | 1.9 | cultivation | 3 | 12.0 |
| driver | 6 | 3.9 | labourer | 2 | 8.0 |
| electrician | 1 | 0.6 | teaching | 2 | 8.0 |
| security worker | 1 | 0.6 | daily paid worker | 1 | 4.0 |
| labourer | 26 | 16.8 | carpentry | 1 | 4.0 |
| businessman | 39 | 25.2 | other family members | 1 | 4.0 |
| government worker | 4 | 2.6 | cooking | 1 | 4.0 |
| mason | 2 | 1.3 | Total | 25 | 100.0 |
| garment worker | 2 | 1.3 | | | |
| working in middle east | 20 | 12.9 | | | |
| teaching | 10 | 6.5 | | | |
| money from other family | 2 | 1.3 | | | |
| members | | | | | |
| fishing | 5 | 3.2 | | | |
| pension | 1 | 0.6 | | | |
| painter | 1 | 0.6 | | | |
| cooking | 1 | 0.6 | | | |
| mechanic | 1 | 0.6 | | | |
| tailor | 1 | 0.6 | | | |
| mawlavi | 1 | 0.6 | | | |
| Total | 155 | 100.0 | | | |

Table 4: Sources of household income, Nachchaduwa

The general level of infrastructure of the area is more developed than in Madugalle. Public and private buses ply the paved roads from Anuradhapura and motorcycle ownership is high. In 2009 at least one household member owned a motorcycle in 49% of households, compared with just 9.6% of households in Madugalle and 4.3% in the Park estate. Electricity and telephone facilities are well developed. Government offices and other public and private services as banks and a hospital are located in Sawasthipura, a small developing town 14 km away. For commercial purposes villagers generally travel 15 km to the district capital, Anuradhapura. Most children attend the co-educational Nachchaduwa Maha Vidyalayam, a Type 1C school which offers education from Grades 1-13 in the Tamil medium. The school was established more than ninety years ago, in 1920, at the same time as the school in Madugalle. Most of today's parents and grandparents attended this school.

³ In the 1980s and 1990s it was becoming commonplace in Sri Lanka to refer to the Middle East as West Asia. Latterly, the term Middle East is once again more prominent.

2.2.3 Park Estate

Park is an up-country tea estate in the Nuwara-Eliya division of the Nuwara-Eliya district in the Central Province, about 186 km. from Colombo. It is situated close to Kandapola town. The majority of those who live in the Park estate are Tamil Hindus of Indian origin. Tea was introduced to this area by the British in the late 19th century. The management of the Park Estate was nationalised in the 1970s but was returned to a private company in the 1990s. The estate is currently managed by the private company, Udapussellawa Plantations Limited. Estate labour has traditionally been drawn from among the Indian Tamils who ancestors were brought by the British from South India in the mid nineteenth century. In contrast with dwellings in Madugalle and Nachchaduwa, the majority of households (40%) live in close proximity to others in 'line rooms', simple terraced rooms with *verandahs*. A similar percentage (36%) live in separate dwellings and a smaller percentage (21%) in semi detached dwellings.

In most households in 2009 both the mother and father worked in the estate as labourers (Table 5), supplementing their income with root vegetable cultivation on small areas of land made available by the estate company. In a very small number of households the main source of income derives from cultivation, from supervisory jobs in the estate and from government sector jobs including teaching and the police. Compared with Madugalle and Nachchaduwa more households reported a second source of income, with the majority deriving once again from estate labour and from cultivation. The Kandapola area is well known for its productive and high quality vegetable cultivation. Kandapola town is a vegetable wholesale collection centre just half a kilometre from Park Estate. Much of the vegetable crop is exported to the capital, Colombo. Kandapola town also offers medical and banking facilities. The district capital, Nuwara-Eliya, a large commercial centre, is 11 km away and accessible by bus.

| First Income Source | No. | % | Second Income Source | No. | % |
|---------------------|-----|-------|------------------------|-----|-------|
| labourer | 63 | 67.7 | labourer | 37 | 56.1 |
| cultivation | 16 | 17.2 | cultivation | 9 | 13.6 |
| businessman | 4 | 4.3 | foreign employment | 5 | 7.6 |
| field officer | 4 | 4.3 | working in Middle East | 4 | 6.1 |
| teaching | 3 | 3.2 | government worker | 3 | 4.5 |
| driver | 1 | 1.1 | driver | 2 | 3.0 |
| working in police | 1 | 1.1 | businessman | 2 | 3.0 |
| cooking | 1 | 1.1 | garment worker | 2 | 3.0 |
| Total | 93 | 100.0 | cooking | 1 | 1.5 |
| | | | sewing | 1 | 1.5 |
| | | | Total | 66 | 100.0 |

| Table | 5: | Sources | of | household | income. | Park |
|-------|------------|---------|-----------|-----------|---------|------|
| Lanc | ~ • | Dources | UI | nouschoiu | meonic, | Iun |

Compared with Madugalle, access to facilities in Park is favourable, with a nearby paved road and hourly bus access to Nuwara-Eliya. Traditionally estate workers have been low-income wage earners, living in poor quality 'line rooms' and lacking political representation. In recent years political, land and property rights have improved; so too education and housing facilities. Quite recently, loyal and long resident Park estate households were given 2.5 perches of land by the estate owners. In another scheme workers were given 7 perches of land and a loan, repayable over 30 years, to build their own houses. This has given rise to a large number of simple detached and semi-detached dwellings in the estate. Compared with Madugalle and Nachchaduwa fewer youth

migrate long distances for work. In 2002 we interviewed 36 youth, aged 15-29, who were resident in the estate at that time. By 2008, only fifteen, or 42% of the 36 youth whom we interviewed in 2002 were still residing in the estate. One was known to have migrated to Colombo for work, ten had migrated to another estate for work under an estate labour transfer scheme and ten could not be traced.

Compared with Madugalle and Nachchaduwa, where the vast majority of children enrol in the same village school between Grades 1 and 13, the children of Park Estate attend a dispersed range of schools. The majority enrol in either the Park Tamil Vidyalayam, offering Grades 1-9 or in the nearby Methodist Maha Vidyalayam. A smaller group travel daily to a cluster of schools in the district capital of Nuwara Eliya, 11 km away. About 10% enrol in schools much further away in the district or neighbouring district.

2.3 Profile of Households

2.3.1 Demographic characteristics

Table 6 indicates that around one third, or a little less, of household members in each of our communities are aged 5-15. The majority are in the working age group 16-64. The population dependency ratio (the percentage of young people (under 16) and older people (over 64), compared with the percentage of people of working age (16 to 64)) is around 0.70 in Madugalle and Nachchaduwa and lower, at 0.59, in Park. The level of dependency on the working age population in Madugalle and Nachchaduwa is thus lower than in Park. All three communities have stable populations, with 95% of households in Madugalle, 92% in Nachchaduwa and 87% in the Park Estate being described as long term residents. In Madugalle 81% had lived there for more than 10 years, in Nachchaduwa 75% and in Park Estate 65%.

| | 0-4 | 5-15 | 16-64 | 65+ | Dependency Ratio |
|-------------|------|-------|-------|------|---------------------|
| Madugalle | 7.53 | 30.26 | 58.68 | 3.53 | 0.70 |
| Nachchaduwa | 6.40 | 33.47 | 58.53 | 1.60 | 0.71 |
| Park Estate | 6.55 | 29.22 | 62.92 | 1.31 | 0.59 |

Table 6: Dependency ratio, Madugalle, Nachchaduwa and Park

2.3.2 Household Assets

A household assets index was developed to estimate the wealth/poverty of each household. The household asset index is constructed using 14 binary indicators for the ownership by a household of portable asset items, namely bed, table, stove, fridge, fan, clock, watch, TV, telephone, mobile phone, computer, bike, motorbike, car.

The pairwise correlations between owning one item and another were found to be positive in the vast majority of cases. Principal components analysis showed that the first principal component explains 24.7% of the variance among these items. All items were found to be positively correlated with this component, which has an Eigenvalue of 3.46. Thus, the first principal component may be considered a useful indicator of the underlying ability of households to acquire these items and was used to generate a household asset score for each household in the pooled sample across sites. The mean values of the asset score varied across the three sites, with a higher mean value of 1.17

(SD=1.63) in Nachchaduwa, compared with -0.85 (SD=1.49) in Madugalle and -1.03 (SD=1.36) in Park.

2.3.3 Housing Index

A housing index was constructed using indicators of housing quality. Principal components analysis was performed using five indicator variables – connection to electricity, source of water supply, type of toilet facility, house ownership and the number of rooms in the house. All these indicators are positively correlated with the first principal component which is found to explain 32.3% of the total variance among these indicators and which has an Eigenvalue of 1.62. The mean values of these varied across the three sites, with a higher mean value of 0.94 in Nachchaduwa, compared with 0.22 in Park and -1.29 (SD 0.92) in Madugalle.

2.3.4 Education Assets in the Home

Assets in the home that might support children's education were noted and an education assets index created. We explored whether children had a table for homework, a chair, school books, exercise books, pen, a light source for doing homework, adequate ventilation, books other than school books and magazines/newspapers. These binary variables were used to generate an education assets index using principal components analysis. All these indicators were found to be positively correlated with the first principal component, which accounts for 40.4% of the total variance and has an Eigenvalue of 3.63. The highest mean on education assets was reported in Madugalle (0.53) followed by Nachchaduwa (0.12) and Park (-0.83).

2.3.5 Household Members' Education Status

Table 7 describes the education status of household members. The educational characteristics of household members vary across the three sites, with those aged 21 years and over and living in Madugalle having had access to greater levels of schooling, on average, than those in Nachchaduwa and Park.

| | Madugalle % | Nachchaduwa % | Park % |
|------------------------------|----------------|----------------|----------------|
| Never enrolled | 2.90 | 2.41 | 14.54 |
| Preschool | 0.29 | 0.80 | 0.35 |
| Incomplete primary | 12.17 | 13.94 | 15.96 |
| Complete primary | 7.54 | 20.38 | 9.57 |
| Incomplete lower secondary | 28.99 | 27.88 | 23.05 |
| Complete lower secondary | 33.33 | 18.23 | 17.38 |
| Incomplete upper secondary | 1.16 | 1.61 | 10.64 |
| Complete upper secondary | 12.17 | 10.72 | 7.80 |
| Incomplete college or degree | 1.45 | 2.14 | 0.35 |
| Complete college or degree | 0.00 | 1.88 | 0.35 |
| Total | 100.00 (N=345) | 100.00 (N=373) | 100.00 (N=282) |

Table 7: Educational status of household members aged 21 years and over, Madugalle, Nachchaduwa and Park

In Madugalle and Nachchaduwa less than 3% of all household members aged 21 years and over had never been to school. In Park the percentage is higher, at 14.5%, reflecting

the more restricted provision of schooling in estates historically. Similar percentages across the three communities have achieved incomplete primary and secondary schooling. In Madugalle complete primary is the highest level of schooling achieved by 7.5% of household members 33.3% had completed lower secondary and 12.2% completed upper secondary. In Nachchaduwa a greater proportion completing of primary (20.3%) is balanced by much lower proportions completing lower secondary (18.2%) and upper secondary (10.7%). In Park the percentages are lower, with 9.6% completing primary, 17.4% completing lower secondary and 7.8% completing upper secondary. Among adults aged 21 years and over the mean level of education is highest in Madugalle and lowest in Park.

Education levels do not necessarily reflect current literacy competencies and practices of adult household members. If the environment in which adults live does not require them to use the literacy skills developed through formal education, they are likely to lose those skills. The language and literacy practices of adult household members influence children's learning experiences at home which in turn influence their experience of and achievement in schooling. In Madugalle, Sinhala is the language usually spoken at home and in Nachchaduwa and Park, Tamil. Very few of those adult household members interviewed reported ever using English at home - only two in Madugalle, five in Nachchaduwa and two in Park.

In order to provide an indication of adult literacy competencies, as distinct from reported levels of schooling, we developed literacy tests in Sinhala, Tamil and in English. Sinhala and Tamil are the official languages of Sri Lanka, with Sinhala spoken by the majority of the population. English is classed as an official language alongside Sinhala and Tamil. We developed items to assess five types of literacy competency, ordered in terms of difficulty - letter recognition, word recognition, sentence reading, passage reading and passage comprehension. The vocabulary and grammatical structure of these items were based on the Grade 3 mother tongue language text books. Performance within each of the five competencies was graded progressively at five levels, with the scores for the two more difficult competencies, passage reading and passage comprehension, being weighted double in the overall score. With five competencies marked at five levels and with two competencies being double weighted, the overall maximum score per individual was 35.

The tests were administered individually to the adult respondent. In most cases this was the mother, the female primary care giver, but in some cases it was a male primary care giver or a household member other than the primary care giver. Among all 394 respondents who completed the literacy test 84% were female and 16% male. The percentage of male respondents varied from 23% in Madugalle to 12% in Nachchaduwa and 14% in Park. At each successive level of task difficulty the proportion of respondents scoring no marks increased and scoring maximum marks decreased, thus validating the *a priori* difficulty level of each.

In Madugalle, where the mother tongue is Sinhala the mean score was 32.0 out of a maximum of 35 (male = 31.7; female = 31.7). Since the test itself was based on literacy levels employed in the Grade 3 reading book we can infer that most parents were achieving at the Grade 3 level. In Nachchaduwa and Park, where the mother tongue is Tamil, the respective means were 29.7 (male = 31.6; female = 29.4) and 17.7 (male = 20.6; female = 16.8). The much lower level in Park reflects lower levels of schooling, and

perhaps also of achievement within any given level of schooling, among adult household members in the estate community. Literacy scores in English were, not surprisingly, low, with means of 6.8 (male = 5.9; female =7.1) in Madugalle, 11.1 (male = 17.8; female = 10.3) in Nachchaduwa and 6.3 (male = 4.4 female = 5.3) in Park. The Tamil versions of tests were not administered in Madugalle where Tamil is barely understood and used. However, the Sinhala tests were administered in Nachchaduwa and Park, yielding means of 12.6 and 3.3 respectively. The higher competence in Sinhala in Nachchaduwa than in Park reflects the mixed ethnicity of the larger residential area of which the Nachchaduwa case community is a part, and the fact that much of the trading and business activity of Nachchaduwa households is transacted though both Sinhala and Tamil.

2.3.6 Educational Status of Children 5-16 Years

In Madugalle 194 children were aged 5-16 years. Among the 5-16 year olds all but one was enrolled in school. One child, aged 13 years in 2008, had dropped out (Zone 2) because of health problems. The majority of children (86.7%) attend the Madugalle Maha Vidyalaya. No children attended a private school. Almost all (99%) of children attended some form of pre-school prior to enrolling in Grade 1. The majority of children (92.3%) started primary school at the official entry age (5+). Respondents reported low rates of repetition. Only five children were reported to have repeated a grade once, and three twice. Almost half the children (48.2%) attend private tuition after school.

In Nachchaduwa 282 children were aged 5-16 years, among whom the majority were still enrolled in school. Six had dropped out. All were reported to have started school at the correct age of 5 years. The majority of enrolled children (97%) attend the government Nachchaduwa Tamil Vidyalayam. Four children attended private schools some distance away while four attended religious schools. The majority of children (95.4%) had attended pre-school before enrolling in Grade 1 and 84.7% attended private tuition after school hours.

In Park, 177 children were aged 5-16 years, among whom the majority were still enrolled in school and seven had dropped out. All were reported to have started school at the correct age of 5 years. As noted earlier the Park children, in contrast with those in Madugalle and Nachchaduwa, are dispersed among a large number of schools. Only five of the 177 attended private schools. A majority of children (78.8%) had attended preschool before enrolling in Grade 1, though this percentage is smaller than in Madugalle and Nachchaduwa. A majority (64.7%) attended private tuition after school hours.

2.3.7 Parental Expectations for their Children

Parental expectations for their children are high. In Madugalle almost two thirds (61.5%) of respondents 'realistically expected' that their child would attain a university education; a further one third (33.3%) expect that their child will attain education up to the GCE A level, while just eight (4.1%) expect their child will reach GCE O level. Most respondents (59.1%) believed that there might be reasons why his or her child might not reach the expected level of education, while 40.9% do not anticipate challenges. Among those who expect that there might be problems the majority (86.0%) cited poverty or economic problems. In Nachchaduwa more than nine tenths (92.7%) of primary care givers expected that there may be economic reasons why their child might not

reach the expected level of education. In Park the same percentage (92.7%) 'expected realistically' that their child would study up to university level, though most of these also felt that economic reasons might prevent this.

Occupational expectations were also very optimistic. More than two thirds of Madugalle respondents expected that their children will gain jobs in the state sector - in the security forces, as teachers or in unspecified occupations About half presented reasons why their child might not attain this job, the majority of which (72.2%) were poverty-related. A further 16 (16.5%) mentioned illness/disease. In Nachchaduwa government sector job expectations, especially teaching jobs, were even higher. Among the 97% who expected government sector jobs around 20% suggested that their child might not attain this job because of poverty. In Park the percentages of those who expected state sector jobs - as teachers, doctors, police - were less than in Nachchaduwa but slightly more than in Madugalle (72.3%). However, among these respondents about three quarters thought that economic reasons would prevent the realisation of these occupational expectations for their children.

3. School Profiles

This section provides a description of the schools attended by the majority of children in the survey households. It is based on data from interviews with principals and teachers, school observations and on school records. The school profiles are based on all children attending the respective school and not only those included in the household survey.

3.1 Madugalle School

The majority of children in Madugalle village learn through the medium of Sinhala at the government Madugalle Maha Vidyalaya. The school was established in 1920. Until very recently the school was a Type 2 school and was upgraded to a type 1C school at the beginning of the year of our survey. It admitted its first students to Grade 12 in 2008. The furthest distance any child has to travel to this school is 3km. Of the few dropouts recorded, all were in the post primary grades. In Grades 1-9 all children were in the correct grade for their age. In 2008 there were 23 teachers, including the principal. With an overall enrolment of 352 the STR was 15.3:1.

The general condition of the school buildings was judged to be acceptable, with access to space for sports, a school garden and a safe environment. Light, ventilation, school furniture, blackboards and learning materials were judged to be acceptable or excellent. There was no library. Science laboratory facilities were judged to be very poor in this school although there was a separate room for the laboratory items. Three latrines each for boys and for girls were judged to be in acceptable condition. There were no hand-washing facilities. The school had no facilities for treating sick children and the nearest clinic and hospital are 12km distant from the school.

3.2 Nachchaduwa School

The majority of children in our Nachchaduwa community learn through the medium of Tamil and attend the government Nachchaduwa Muslim Maha Vidyalayam. The school offers education from Grade 1-13 and is classified as a Type 1C school. In Grades 1-5 boys and girls study together while in Grades 6-13 they study in separate classroom blocks. In 2008 the total enrolment was 808, of whom 50.4% were girls. Girls' enrolment in the upper grades increased from 47% in 2002 to 54% in 2007 and 53% in 2008. Girls have outnumbered boys in the GCE A level grades since 2002, largely because boys who wish to study in GCE A level classes often travel to schools further away from home, while the girls are more likely to enroll in a school nearer to home. Repetition rates are low. Dropout rates in Nachchaduwa school in 2008 in Grades 1-5 were low at just 0.9% for boys and 0% for girls, but were rather high in the upper grades: 12.8% for boys and 10.9% for girls (against the district averages of 7.16% and 4.73%). These rates are higher than both the district and national averages. The principal attributed the dropout among boys to their tendency to engage in family business and among girls to their tendency of their families to prepare them for marriage and, in the case of households where the mother has migrated for work to the Middle East, to stay at home to look after younger siblings.

Table 8 indicates that children's ages corresponded with the official age for each grade in the first five years of enrolment in 2008. In 2008 all children in Grades 1-5 were in the correct grade for their age. Over-age children appeared in the school records only from

Grade 6; three in grade 6, 15 in grade 8, 13 in grade 9, 12 in grade 10 and 16 in grade 11. In grades 12 and 13 there appears to a marked shift in 'over-age' distribution. This is explained by the fact that Grade 11 students sit for their GCE O Level examination in December, receive their results in March and choose in which schools they would like to register for the A Level in the following months. They enrol for the GCE A Level classes only in the following January, thus wasting an entire year between sitting the O level examination and commencing studies leading to the A level examination. This year of waiting which is common to all children in the country represents a 'silent exclusion' from education among all young people aged 16-17 years who must rely on their parents to support them.

| Grade | 5+ | 6+ | 7+ | 8+ | 9+ | 10+ | 11+ | 12+ | 13+ | 14+ | 15+ | 16+ | 17+ | 18+ | 19+ |
|-------|----|----|----|----|----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|
| 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| 1 | 79 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| 2 | 0 | 71 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| 3 | 0 | 0 | 74 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| 4 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 79 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| 5 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 53 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| 6 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 59 | 3 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| 7 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 68 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| 8 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 73 | 15 | 1 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| 9 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 74 | 10 | 3 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| 10 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 38 | 9 | 3 | 0 | 0 | 0 |
| 11 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 44 | 13 | 3 | 0 | 0 |
| 12 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 21 | 0 | 0 |
| 13 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 1 | 8 | 3 |

Table 8: Age of enrolled child by grade of current enrolment, 2008, Nachchaduwa

In 2009 at the time of our visit there were 42 teachers. With a total student enrolment of 807, this yields an STR 19.2:1.

The general level of facilities in the Nachchaduwa school is good. The buildings are built of brick and concrete and are in acceptable condition. The school has space for sports, has some garden areas and is surrounded by fencing and a secure gate. Most classes are taught in separate classroom spaces, furnished with desks, chairs, blackboards and chalk. Only one classroom was found to be substandard. A house is available for the school principal but no accommodation facilities are available for teachers. One science laboratory is available but is judged to be of poor quality. The headteacher's office is of excellent quality. A poor quality staff room is available for the use of teachers. A modestly equipped library is available but there are no store rooms, nor a covered assembly space or kitchen. A small, privately-run canteen serves snacks and drinks. The school has access to electricity and to pipe-borne water. Three pan toilets and one set of urinals is available for boys and four pan toilets and one set of urinals for girls. One toilet is available for staff. The condition of the latrines and toilets is acceptable. Pipe borne water for handwashing is available.

3.3. Park Estate school

Forty five per cent of the Park division children attend the Tamil-medium Park school, and forty four percent attend the nearby Methodist School or one of four government

schools in the district capital of Nuwara Eliya, 15 km away. The remaining 11% attend 13 schools further away within the district or the neighbouring district, or smaller schools in Nuwara Eliya town. Three students attend private English-medium 'international' schools in Nuwara Eliya. One attends a Sinhala-medium government school.

The Park Tamil Vidyalayam is a Type 2 school with nine grades (Grades 1-9). It serves children resident in both divisions of the Park Estate (Park division and the larger, adjacent Kandapola division) as well as the Eskdale division of the neighbouring St John's estate. It is not clear when the school was established though we know that it was functioning in the 1950s. Initially run by the estate management, it was taken-over by the government in 1979 but closed for a few years during which time teachers were sent for training. During this time children attended the nearby Methodist school. A new building was opened in the late 1980s and a new principal appointed in 1990. The school is located on two sites, the result of an amalgamation in 1999. The primary section (Grades 1-5) is located in the adjacent Kandapola division and the upper section (Grade 6-9) in the Park division. The principal's office is located in the upper section, some 1.5 km from the lower section. Access to the school is via a motorable road of poor quality to within 400 metres of both site entrances. Children access both schools through a series of pathways and short cuts through the estate lands. The nearest preschool facility is located within 200 metres of the upper section school. The nearest pharmacy/clinic is within 500 metres of the upper section school and the nearest hospital 10 km.

Total enrolment during the third term of 2009 was 306, of whom 144 (47%) were girls. In Grades 1-5 50 % were girls; in Grades 6-9 43% were girls. The majority of children were enrolled in the correct grade for their age. Just seventeen (5.5%) of children were one year older than the official age for their respective grade. Enrolment numbers have declined very slightly over the past few years. In 2005 total enrolment was 332, declining slightly to 319 and 310 in 2006 and 2007 respectively.

Park school records indicate that no student repeated a class between 2004 and 2008, reflecting the school's adherence to the national policy of automatic promotion. However in each of the years between 2005 and 2009, a small number of dropouts from the school are recorded - in 2005 10 boys and 11 girls; in 2006 3 boys and 4 girls; in 2007 6 boys and 4 girls; in 2008 13 boys and 11 girls; and in 2009 6 boys and 4 girls. With an enrolment of 306 in 2009, this gives a low dropout rate of 3.4% across Grades 1-9. Dropout was more likely to occur from Grades 5-9 than from Grades 1-4. The principals of both the Park school and the neighbouring Methodist School attributed dropout, among boys and girls, to the availability of well paid casual work on vegetable farms in Kandapola.

Success in the Grade 5 scholarship examination facilitates transfer to a national school or a high ranking provincial school for further education. If household income falls below a defined level, exam success attracts some financial support. However no student in Park was successful in 2000, 2002, or 2005-09. One was successful in 2003 and 2004 and two in 2001. Despite this record of failure, the school adopts a policy of providing free extra classes for those preparing to sit for this exam. The majority of children who sat in 2009 achieved less than 80/200. Failure in the exam does not prevent students from continuing with their education beyond Grade 5. It merely restricts access to the best schools. And the national policy of automatic promotion enables some children to continue their education beyond Grade 5 with very weak foundations. Indeed more than half of the

children who sat the exam in 2009 achieved less than 30% of the marks. One girl in the Park school who sat the exam in 2006 had, despite having achieved only 18 marks out of 200, transferred to another school in Nuwara-Eliya town. By 2009 she had progressed to Grade 9. Private tuition is pursued during the afternoons by many of the children attending the Park school. Hitherto, much of this tuition was pursued in classes run in the town area, but recently two teachers resident on the site of the primary section have encouraged children to attend classes run by them for a modest fee during the afternoons. By 2011 this practice appeared to have ceased to be replaced by free extra tuition run by youth educated to the GCE A level in the library of the local community centre.

In 2009 there was a male principal and 13 teachers (6 male and 7 female) for 306 students, yielding an STR of 21.9:1. At 37.2:1 the ratio in the primary grades is much higher than in the upper grades, where it is 13.3:1.

The general level of facilities in the Park school is only minimally acceptable. While the buildings are of acceptable brick and concrete construction, repairs to guttering and pavements were found to be long overdue. Both sites have limited space for sports activity, poorly maintained garden areas and poor security arrangements. The primary section has two buildings. In one, Grades 1 and 5 are separated by a full wall. In the other, grades 2, 3 and 4 are taught in the same 60 X 20 ft. space, with no classroom dividers or walls between. The upper section consists of two buildings. In one is a teachers' residential room, an activity-cum-storage room plus the principal's office. In the other are Grades 6-9, with classrooms separated by walls of three quarters height. While classroom spaces are adequately ventilated, they are not well lit by natural light. Desks, chairs, blackboards and chalk were available. Teaching aids and children's work was displayed only minimally. Two teachers resided in simple quarters in the primary section, while a third occupied a room in the upper section. No library or science laboratory is available. In 2011 six computers had been delivered to the school - but these had not been set up for want of a suitable room in the upper section. At the time of a return visit to the school in March 2011 all the children in grades 1-9 were studying in very cramped conditions in the lower school building. The upper school building had been requisitioned by the estate to house a number of 'refugee' line room residents whose building had burned down some three months earlier due to an electricity power failure.

Pit latrines and urinals were available in adequate numbers for girls and boys, with a separate latrine available for the use of staff. Their condition was adequate. While water was available for handwashing, soap was not. Pipe-borne water and electricity were available on both sites. The general cleanliness of the school sites was acceptable. The teachers reported that there were no major health problems among either students or teachers. The school keeps health records of children and the Public Health Inspector visits the school to conduct examinations of children in Grades 1, 3 and 7.

School textbooks were available for every child and teachers had guides and syllabi for most subjects. The availability of reading and writing material, the general classroom environment, visibility of children's work, marking quantity of work covered were judged to be acceptable to poor (on a four point scale of excellent, acceptable, poor and unacceptable). We conclude the profile of Park with some information about school absence. Average monthly attendance⁴ ranged from lows of around 60% in January, the first month of the school year, to 65% in the holiday season month of April, to highs of around 90% in the end of year test month of December. While the average attendance of the new entrants to the school in Grade 1 is high in January (84.0% for Grade 1) the averages for all other grades were considerably lower (57% for Grades 2, 6, 7 and 8 and between 62 and 65 for Grades 3, 4, 5 and 9). The explanation for this is that January is the start of the New Year when new exercise books and new shoes need to be purchased, and school facilities fees paid. For daily and monthly paid workers with several children attending school, these start-of-year charges place household income and expenditure under stress. As money becomes available then children re-enroll and begin to attend more regularly. By February 2009 average monthly attendance ranged from 67% in Grade 4 to 88.8% for Grade 3. In some months absenteeism is very high. It fluctuates seasonally and varies from grade to grade.

3.4 Methodist School

Because so many of the Park Estate children attend the nearby Methodist Tamil Maha Vidyalayam we include a brief profile. The Methodist school is a Type 1C school, established in 1927 and offers mixed-sex classes from Grade 1 to 13 in the Tamil medium. It is located near to the main road and is very close to the Park estate school described above. In 2009 its total enrolment was 748, of whom 388 or 52% were girls. Most of the children in Grades 1-5 are from the nearby Kandapola town. At Grade 6 there is a surge in enrolment as children from five neighbouring estates, Concordia, Eskdale, St Johns, Heathersett and Goatfell, which have Type 3 schools offering education up to Grade 5 make the transition to secondary education. A secondary surge in enrolment occurs in Grades 10 and 11 as children from the nearby Park estate leave Grade 9 and move to the Methodist school's Grade 10. A very small number of children enter school 'over-age' attributed by the principal to a lack of awareness among parents and reasons of poverty. Admission to school incurs some costs (e.g. shoes, jumpers, exercise books).

Performance in the Grade 5 and GCE O level examinations has improved in recent years. In 2008 37 children sat the Grade 5 scholarship exam and 18.9% gained marks above the district cut-off marks. In the same year 80 students had sat for the GCE O level examinations and 31.3% had qualified for the GCE A level classes. In 2011 no boys were enrolled in the GCE A level classes which offer only Arts and Commerce streams. The boys who had qualified for GCE O level had chosen to move on to schools in Nuwara-Eliya which offered GCE A level streams in Science and perhaps also the chance of better marks in the Arts and Commerce GCE A level examination. All the Grade 12 and 13 students were female.

In addition to the male school principal there were, in 2009, 33 teachers, among whom three were graduates and the rest were A-level qualified. Two teachers had worked in the school since 1997. The remainder had been appointed since 2001. Eight of the teachers were SLTS 2 ii, 12 were 3-i and 12 were 3-ii. The STR was 22.6:1.

⁴ The average monthly attendance of students is calculated in the school registers as the total number of student attendances, divided by the number of days the school was open each month for teaching multiplied by the number of children enrolled in the respective grade.

The principal is an old-boy of the school, having started his education in the Heathersett estate school, moving on to Methodist and moving on again to St Xavier's college for his GCE A level. Having followed teacher training through the distance mode, he was not only the principal but also the only trained Maths teacher in the entire school. In 2011 there was only one trained science teacher and one trained English teacher. The number of students justifies a cadre of six teachers for maths/science and two teachers for English. In 2011 the approved cadre of teachers for Grades 1-5 was 10. The Methodist school only had seven.

The total area available for the school site is constrained and classrooms crowded. In general, facilities were judged to be acceptable, including a library, a room for computers. The science teaching facilities consisted of a room, poor quality tables and chairs, some equipment and chemicals. There was little evidence that the equipment or chemicals were used regularly or frequently. Three sets of latrines were available for boys and three for girls, the condition of which judged to be poor. Hand washing facilities were available.

3.5 School Practices Designed to Reduce Exclusion

In this section we describe some of the policies and practices employed in our schools to improve enrolment, attendance and achievement in the different CREATE zones.

3.5.1 Initial Enrolment (Zone 1)

1. What things do you, your teachers and/or your school development society do to ensure that all children coming up to the age of five enter school at the correct time?

Nationally, parents are informed through the newspapers and the government gazettes that they need to apply for initial enrolment during the month of May for the following January. In Mandugalle parents are informed and reminded about the need to enrol their children in school at the correct age through the private Montessori pre-school and the Madugalle School Development Society meetings. Instructions and reminders are also given to older siblings at the end of the year in the year-end assembly. The school conducts two interviews, the first with the parent and second with the parent and child. During the latter, some simple questions are posed for the child to assess achievement and ability. During these meetings parents are encouraged to send their child to school regularly and are advised of the benefits of schooling to the school. They are also informed about the free distribution of school uniform and text books. On the first day of school there is a cultural programme for parents and children where refreshments are served and a warm welcome extended.

In Nachchaduwa the Mosque plays an important role in encouraging fathers to enrol their children at the correct age. The Mosque is fully supportive of children's schooling, boys and girls alike. The school principal and male teachers who pray at the Mosque pass on instructions about initial enrolment at meetings with fathers. Mothers are not included in these meetings. Household members who are working overseas are expected to contribute to an education development fund managed by the Mosque, some of which is used to fund scholarships to assist with children's schooling. Parents are provided with information about the distribution of school uniforms and text books and the means by

which children are admitted to Grade 1 through the newspapers and the government gazette, through the school development society and religious societies. Like in Madugalle, the principal and teachers of the Nachchaduwa School organise a welcome party/cultural programme for parents and their children on the first day of school.

The principal of Park school explained how he and his staff adopt a pro-active stance on initial enrolment. Each year he collects the names of children eligible for entry to Grade 1 from the day care centres and the Montessori private preschools located in the three estate divisions that send children to the Park school. Parents are invited to visit the school in the October preceding the January admission date. Parents are encouraged to send their children to school and are 'given instructions' about the material for uniforms that will be given for each child and the wish that parents provide children with shoes. Material for the first school uniform is provided before and soon after admission to Grade 1. On the first day of school, a cultural programme is arranged for the newly admitted children and refreshments provided. If, subsequently, children are absent, a parent is invited to visit the school for a discussion with the teacher. If the parent does not come to the school, the teacher will visit the child's home. If that fails, the principal visits the home. The principal of the nearby Methodist school explained that officially applications are called for from parents in the May preceding entry the following June. The Ministry places advertisements in newspapers, his school informs parents and siblings at parent's meeting, asking them to let those who do not currently have children in school know. Because of teacher shortages he does not ask his teachers to visit the homes of children. Although parents are supposed to apply for admission in advance of the start of the school year, some parents turn up after the start of the school year. Their children are admitted.

3.5.2 Over-age Enrolment (Zone 1)

2. Do any children enrol in school before or much later than the official entry age? If so what are the reasons?

Officially children enter school in the January in which they are or will become five years of age. A child whose birthday falls on February 1st is required to wait another year before admission. Across the three schools there are no cases of under-age enrolment and just a few cases of over-age enrolment. The few cases in Nachchaduwa were attributed by the principal to financial reasons. In both Park and Methodist school, the small number of over-age admissions was attributed to a lack of awareness on the part of the parents, to mothers working in the Middle East or to poverty. Expenditures on exercise books, pens/pencils, shoes, jumpers and school 'facilities fees' can be prohibitive for very poor families. In a few cases migrant families with no permanent residences admit their children late in the school year. The school always admits over-age children. The Mandugalle principal did not perceive finance to be a valid reason for over-age enrolment, explaining that, in addition to the government provision of free school uniforms and text books, his School Development Society was able to provide exercise books for children from low income households.

3.5.3 Irregular Attendance (Zone 3 and 6)

3. What things do you and your teachers do when you see that a child is not attending school regularly?

In all schools irregular attendance arises mainly because of poor health for health reasons, usually of the child but sometimes because of parental illness. In Madugalle irregular attendance of male children occurs around the time that the paddy is harvested or when family agricultural activity is intense. This is was not an issue in Nachchaduwa. In the Park and Methodist schools it was suggested that irregular attendance sometimes occurs when the mother has gone abroad for work or if the child is hungry. Attendance tends to be low in Park and Methodist in the months of traditional Hindu festivals which often involved several days of celebrations in the estate. The principal of the Methodist school explained that it was difficult to enforce good attendance during such periods. Instead the principal tries to influence it, sometimes calling the parent for a meeting. Attendance is also low in the first month of the school year. This is because some parents cannot afford the expenditures for all of their school-going children – exercise books, shoes, facilities fees etc. School expenditures may be said to be subject to a 'seasonality effect' (Hadley, 2009). While expenditures peak during January, household income does not, leading in some cases to the late enrolment of the child and low attendance for that month. The Park principal explained that, like those who eventually drop-out from school, low attenders among the older age groups are often to be found working on a daily basis on vegetable lands, either on their household lands (where 4 perches are often available to estate workers) or on the farms of others. Children from around 11 years of age can earn Rs 200-300 per day (£1.21 - £1.83) in vegetable cultivation. Their parents who can earn Rs 300-400 per day (£1.83 - £2.44) working on the tea estate can more than twice as much (Rs 700 - 1000 per day) on private vegetable farms. Regular absentees and their parents are 'sometimes' given advice about attending school, but many become drop-outs and parents do not seek their readmission to school.

3.5.4 Dropout (Zones 2 and 5)

4. Do children in your school ever dropout? If so, what things do you and your teachers do if you see that a child is at risk of dropping out, or has stopped coming to school altogether.

In all schools dropout was more likely to occur in the post primary grades than in the primary grades, and was most likely in Grades 8, 9 or 10. Even then it is declining. The main reason for dropout among males is economic opportunity in the private or informal sector. In Madugalle this work is found in the private and informal sectors within the area or in the free trade zones. In Nachchaduwa it is more likely to be work in the family business. And in Park and Methodist it is work in vegetable cultivation or in shops in the local area of in the district or national capital. In a very few cases students have dropped out from Park or Methodist because of the influence of older unemployed peers and a peer pressure drift into smoking, liquor and gambling. Among girls dropout was highest in the Muslim school in Nachchaduwa, for reasons of preparation for marriage and caring for younger siblings, especially if the mother is working abroad in the Middle East. The main strategy used to prevent dropout has been advice against leaving school at the point at which the student wishes to collect his or her school leaving certificate. This advice appears to be less effective if the young person is planning to work in a family business and more effective, not least as a character reference, for work in the government or corporate private sectors. In the Madugalle school the principal indicated that in the past some boys had been punished for trying to dropout from school. As it became the norm for boys to aspire to sit the GCE O level examination in Grade 11 so dropout rates had declined.

3.5.5 Low Achievement (Zone 3 and 6)

5. What things do you and your teachers do when you see that a child is struggling with their learning? Do you make special provisions for children who are achieving at low levels? And what use do you and your teachers make of the term and annual achievement tests?

In both the Madugalle and Nachchaduwa schools extra classes are organised by teachers on a voluntary basis for all students preparing for the national exams at Grade 5 and the GCE O and A Levels. In the Madugalle school subject teachers give their time voluntarily to help Grade 6-10 students who are weak in Maths, Science, First Language and English and in Nachchaduwa in Maths, Science and English. Additionally, the zonal office organises 'educational sassys' (talks, seminars) for all students to help them to prepare for the Grade 5 and GCE examinations.

A teacher in the Park school indicated that the scores on end-of-term and end-of-year achievement tests were scrutinised closely by teachers and students. In the case of older students, group discussions of how to approach test questions are encouraged. Extra classes are arranged for those preparing for the Grade 5 scholarship examination and in some cases for low achieving children in other grades. The Methodist school principal indicated that achievement tests were analysed in detail by both teachers and In Service Advisors (ISAs) and used to influence their teaching of the next cohort of students. Extra classes for low achieving students were not organised in the Park school. The Methodist school had organised extra classes for Grade 6 children who had entered the school at Grade 5 from the surrounding estate schools. In contrast with children who had been enrolled in the Methodist school since Grade 1 the Grade 6 new entrants were found to achieving at rather low levels in first language and maths. Teachers were invited to volunteer their one or two 'free' periods per day (officially used for preparation and marking) to offer extra classes for these children over a period of about 3 months during both 2009 and 2011.

4. Predicting Exclusion

Section 2 provided an overview of our three diverse rural communities and of the characteristics of households. Section 3 provided profiles of the schools attended by most of those who resided in the communities and a description of a range of practices determined by the school to improve access and achievement. In this section we examine the status of our students and former students in relation to the CREATE model of Zones of Exclusion. We provide an in depth analysis of performance in Zones 3 and 6, the zone of 'silent exclusion' at the primary and junior secondary school stage and link school attendance/absence and academic achievement with community, household and individual student characteristics. We identify important 'predictors' of exclusion in our data but do not assert that associations are necessarily causal.

4.1 Zones 0, 1, 2, 4 and 5

With respect to Zone 0 - enrolment in pre-school education - we found remarkably high levels of enrolment in at least one year of pre-school provision. In Madugalle 99% of children aged 5-16 had attended some form of pre-school provision; in Nachchaduwa 95.4% and in Park 78.8%.

With respect to CREATE Zone 1 all of the children aged 5-16 years in our samples had enrolled in school at some point. Zone 2 refers to children who enter primary schooling but who drop out before completion. Zone 5 refers to those who drop out of secondary school before completion of Grade 11. In our case communities, only 14 children dropped out, of whom three children dropped out during the primary grades. Table 9 below indicates the highest grade completed by each of the 14. These very small numbers of dropouts overall, with higher numbers in the secondary grades than in the primary grades conform to the national picture.

| Highest Grade | No. |
|---------------|-----|
| 3 | 2 |
| 5 | 1 |
| 7 | 3 |
| 8 | 2 |
| 9 | 1 |
| 10 | 5 |
| Total | 14 |

Table 9: Highest grade completed by dropouts

The reasons reported by the adult household member for dropout are various. The majority (5) spoke of the child's dislike of school. Others mentioned economic problems, child illness, parental illness and caring for siblings. Three children dropped out of the government school system to follow studies in the Mosque.

Zone 4 refers to those who fail to make the transition from primary to the post primary grades but who complete primary schooling. Table 9 above indicates that only one child completed Grade 5 and did not make the transition. It should be noted however that in some countries transition to secondary requires the child to move to a school in a new location. In our case communities all the schools offered both primary and secondary grades to at least Grade 9.

4.2 Zones 3 and 6

CREATE Zone 3 includes children who enter primary schooling and are enrolled but are at risk of dropping out before completion, as a result of irregular attendance and low achievement. CREATE Zone 6 refers to equivalent exclusion at the post primary level. As we have seen already, dropout in both the primary and post primary grades is very low nationally and in our case communities. Few children are excluded from schooling through dropout. However, as noted in Section 1 achievement levels are low and, as we have seen already in our profile of the Park school absence is very high in some months, fluctuates seasonally and varies across grades. We suggest that the combination of absence from school and low levels of achievement constitutes 'exclusion from worthwhile learning'.

In the following sections we link a range of background child and household (explanatory) variables with two main outcomes- absence from school and learning achievement in school. In brief, the explanatory and outcome variables are:

| Variable | Description | | | | |
|---------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| Gender of child | Dummy variable for gender of child, 1=female, 0=male | | | | |
| Age | Age of pupil at time of household survey | | | | |
| Absence (log) | Log of the proportion of a year a child was absent from school | | | | |
| Ever attended preschool | Dummy variable for ever-attendance at pre-school 1= ever attended, 0= never attended | | | | |
| Attends private tuition | Dummy variable for attendance at private tuition1= attends 0= does not attend | | | | |
| Housing index | Index of housing quality: Score for first principal component from a PCA including | | | | |
| | binary variables for housing ownership, electricity connection, toilet facilities, | | | | |
| | water supply and a continuous variable for the number of rooms in the dwelling | | | | |
| Household assets score | Index of portable asset ownership: Score for first principal component from a PCA | | | | |
| | including common household assets e.g. television | | | | |
| Educational Assets | Index of assets in the household used for educational purposes: Score for first | | | | |
| | principal | | | | |
| | component from a PCA including common educational assets e.g. school books | | | | |
| Adult Literacy in | Adult interviewees' combined score on 5 progressive vernacular literacy tests: | | | | |
| Vernacular | Sinhala in Madugalle and Tamil in Nachchaduwa and Park | | | | |
| Adult Literacy in English | Adult interviewees' combined score on 5 progressive English literacy tests | | | | |
| Health problems | Dummy variable for interviewee reporting health problems of child in the | | | | |
| | last month 1 = health problems, 0 = no health problems reported | | | | |
| Household size | Number of individuals in the household | | | | |
| Gender of interviewee | Dummy variable for the gender of the respondent in the household (who completed | | | | |
| | the literacy tests) $1 =$ male, $0 =$ female | | | | |
| O Level results | Result in O-level coded 5(A) 4(B) 3(C) 2(S) 1(W) in relevant year | | | | |
| Grade 5 Mark | Mark in the Grade 5 examination in relevant year | | | | |
| Class level z-score | Within class z-score for class-based tests in English/maths/language in 2009 | | | | |

Tables 10 and 11 (overleaf) present the descriptive statistics for each of these variables and variable means by community.

The modelling strategy employed is to compare OLS (ordinary least squares) regression results with those from a community fixed effects model which take account of within community homogeneity. Thus in the fixed-effects model, the coefficients on child and household level variables reflect only within-community variation, removing the effects of community-level factors. When modelling the determination of a binary outcome, a probit model is used. This model estimates the associations between explanatory variables and the dichotomous outcome, so that marginal effects (reported in the tables) may be interpreted as effects on the probability of 'success' i.e. a 1 as opposed to a 0 outcome.

| Variable | Observations | Mean | Std. Dev. | Min | Max |
|--------------------------------|--------------|-------|-----------|-------|------|
| Child characteristics | | | | | |
| Child gender | 657 | 0.51 | 0.50 | 0 | 1 |
| Age | 661 | 11.45 | 4.21 | 2 | 51 |
| Attendance in 2007 | 383 | 0.90 | 0.10 | 0.37 | 1 |
| Attendance in 2008 | 456 | 0.87 | 0.14 | 0 | 1 |
| English (class-level z score) | 360 | 0.95 | 1.40 | -3.36 | 5.35 |
| Language (class-level z score) | 360 | -0.39 | 1.12 | -3.66 | 2.80 |
| Maths (class-level z score) | 372 | 0.30 | 1.15 | -3.05 | 8.18 |
| Grade 5 examination score | 359 | 70.50 | 30.07 | 12 | 152 |
| O Level Maths | 93 | 3.21 | 1.16 | 1 | 5 |
| O Level Language | 93 | 2.32 | 1.03 | 1 | 5 |
| O Level English | 93 | 3.68 | 1.11 | 1 | 5 |
| Ever attended pre-school | 635 | 0.92 | 0.27 | 0 | 1 |
| Attends Private Tuition | 637 | 0.70 | 0.46 | 0 | 1 |
| Health Problems | 518 | 0.74 | 0.44 | 0 | 1 |
| Household characteristics | | | | | |
| Adult Literacy Vernacular | 657 | 26.85 | 12.6 | 0 | 36 |
| Adult Literacy English | 657 | 7.96 | 11.77 | 0 | 35 |
| Educational Assets Score | 657 | -0.03 | 1.93 | -8.70 | 2.00 |
| Household assets score | 657 | -0.02 | 1.85 | -5.07 | 4.38 |
| Housing Index | 657 | 0.087 | 1.25 | -4.60 | 3.14 |
| Household size | 661 | 5.28 | 1.51 | 2 | 12 |
| Gender of Interviewee | 656 | 0.15 | 0.36 | 0 | 1 |

Table 10: Descriptive statistics for variables included in the analysis of absence, achievement and private tuition

Table 11: Descriptive statistics for variables included in the analysis of absence, achievement and private tuition by community

| Variable | Madugalle | Nachchaduwa | Park Estate |
|--|-----------|-------------|-------------|
| Child characteristics | | | |
| Gender | 0.52 | 0.52 | 0.51 |
| Age | 11.34 | 11.31 | 11.17 |
| Attendance in 2007 | 0.91 | 0.93 | 0.80 |
| Attendance in 2008 | 0.87 | 0.92 | 0.78 |
| English (class-level z score) | 1.97 | 0.48 | 1.43 |
| Language (class-level z score) | -1.13 | -0.04 | -0.73 |
| Maths (class-level z score) | 0.52 | 0.28 | 0.08 |
| Grade 5 examination score | 70.87 | 76.74 | 59.11 |
| O Level Maths | 1.59 | 3.22 | 2.81 |
| O Level Language | 2.82 | 3.76 | 4.00 |
| O Level English | 1.59 | 2.56 | 2.31 |
| Ever attended pre-school | 0.99 | 0.96 | 0.79 |
| Attends Private Tuition | 0.52 | 0.85 | 0.65 |
| Health Problems | 0.73 | 0.78 | 0.68 |
| Household characteristics Adult Literacy Vernacular | 32.0 | 29.7 | 17.7 |
| Adult Literacy English | 6.78 | 11.15 | 6.63 |
| Educational Assets Score | 0.53 | 0.12 | -0.83 |
| Household assets score | -0.86 | 1.17 | -1.03 |
| Housing Index | -1.27 | 0.93 | 0.24 |
| Household size | 4.72 | 5.23 | 6.19 |
| Gender of Interviewee | 0.23 | 0.11 | 0.14 |

All of the models rely on the assumption that explanatory variables are conditionally independent so that variables which are closely inter-related should not be included, requiring the selection of appropriate indicators, especially given the relatively small sample size. For example, we hypothesised that the literacy level of an adult household member closely related to the child would have an impact on the child's achievement. We also had information about the level of education achieved by the adult household member who was interviewed. Since adult literacy and adult education may be strongly associated (collinear) it is only appropriate to include one indicator from these two in a regression model. The estimated coefficient gives a measure of the partial correlation (controlling for the effects of other variables included in the model) between that indicator and the outcome, but serves as an indicator of the broader concept behind the indicator, so that adult literacy is not strictly isolated from closely related phenomena. In this example, adult literacy will absorb to a large extent the (highly correlated) effects of education and other literacy-related factors.

We present below five separate analyses. The first explores the determinants of absence from school in 2007 and 2008. The next three explore the determinants of academic achievement at different levels of schooling - the national Grade 5 examination sat by almost all Grade 5 children and used for selection into high status Type 1AB schools and, in the case of poor children, financial bursaries; school achievement tests in 2009; and the national General Certificate of Education Ordinary level (GCE O level) examination in maths, first language and English. Finally, because of consistent effects of attendance at private tuition on each of these achievement outcomes, we also include a probit analysis of the determinants of private tuition. In the case of absence, Grade 5 performance and attendance at private tuition, sample sizes permitted analyses of within community effects. School achievement tests are not comparable across communities. In the case of GCE O level performance sample sizes are small, requiring pooling of data across communities.

4.2.1 Absence/Attendance

Table 12 shows results of a regression model with absence from school as the outcome. The absence variable was computed from a variable for the percentage of school days attended in 2007 and 2008 was computed from monthly attendance figures collected by the schools. This was transformed into an absence variable by subtraction from 100 and transformed onto a logarithmic scale for regression modelling purposes. For the community fixed effects analysis, the reference community is Park, where absence is typically highest.

Table 12 indicates that whether or not community effects are introduced there are no significant differences between male and female pupils in respect of attendance, controlling for other factors. Older children appear to be less likely to be absent than younger children in 2007 but not 2008. Better housing, a proxy for household wealth, was found to be associated with lower levels of absence in 2008 but not in 2007. Children who had experienced health problems in the thirty days prior to the household interview were also likely to have been absent more often, suggesting, unsurprisingly, that our health variable indicates persistent health problems that affect annual attendance percentages.

When communities are not controlled for, household assets are important correlates of absence from school. When community effects are introduced however, it is apparent that community effects themselves are large and that within communities asset levels are not significant correlates of attendance indicating that differences between communities on asset levels are associated with absence from school.

| | O | LS | Community Effects | | |
|---------------------------|-----------|-----------|--------------------------|-----------|--|
| | 2007 | 2008 | 2007 | 2008 | |
| | | | | | |
| Madugalle | | | -0.997*** | -0.752*** | |
| Nachchaduwa | | | -1.056*** | -1.097*** | |
| Child characteristics | | | | | |
| Male child | -0.187 | 0.010 | -0.124 | 0.040 | |
| Child's age | -0.058*** | -0.019 | -0.046** | 0.015 | |
| Health problems | 0.460*** | 0.281** | 0.373*** | 0.227** | |
| Household characteristics | | | | | |
| Adult literacy vernacular | -0.019*** | -0.007 | -0.004 | 0.006 | |
| Educational assets | 0.048 | 0.009 | 0.041 | -0.008 | |
| Household asset score | -0.117*** | -0.096*** | -0.035 | 0.002 | |
| Housing index | -0.039 | -0.210*** | -0.044 | -0.166** | |
| Household size | 0.084* | 0.063* | 0.021 | -0.002 | |
| Gender of interviewee | 0.180 | -0.138 | 0.051 | -0.236 | |
| Constant | -1.206** | -1.665*** | -0.716 | -1.019*** | |
| Observations | 277 | 336 | 277 | 336 | |
| Adjusted R-squared | 0.19 | 0.15 | 0.30 | 0.27 | |

 Table 12: Variables associated with absence from school

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

4.2.2 Grade 5 Examination

Table 13 shows the results of a regression model to examine the factors associated with performance in the Grade 5 examination. The mean performance of children on the Grade 5 examination is higher on average in Nachchaduwa and Madugalle than in Park but the differences are not statistically significant when controlling for other explanatory variables. There is no significant difference between boys' and girls' performance. However, older children appeared to have scored higher, other things being equal. This may reflect changes in the nature of the Grade 5 test over time and/or the fact that, until quite recently, not all Grade 5 children were entered for the examination.

Household assets did not seem to be important predictors of achievement, nor did other economic variables. More important were the vernacular literacy score of the interviewed adult and attendance at private tuition. The private tuition effect is particularly strong, although we have not been able to control for the fact that it may be the more able and more motivated pupils who are attending tuition. Moreover the private tuition variable refers to attendance at the time of the interview and not at a time (in some cases more than six years earlier) prior to sitting the Grade 5 examination. In these cases it may be that success in the Grade 5 examination in the past is linked to the motivation for greater investment in private tuition in the present.

| | OLS | Community |
|---------------------------|----------|-----------|
| | | Effects |
| | | |
| | | |
| Madugalle | | 10.365 |
| Nachchaduwa | | 3.961 |
| | | |
| Child characteristics | | |
| Male child | -3.332 | -2.933 |
| Child's age | 1.280* | 1.350** |
| Health Problems | -5.280 | -5.562 |
| Attends Private Tuition | 9.008* | 9.120* |
| Household Characteristics | | |
| Adult literacy vernacular | 0.705*** | 0.602*** |
| Educational assets | -0.429 | -0.675 |
| Household asset score | -0.603 | -0.799 |
| Housing index | 0.832 | 1.985 |
| Household size | 0.690 | 1.064 |
| Gender of interviewee | -7.785 | -8.047 |
| Constant | 26.576 | 21.733 |
| Observations | 280 | 280 |
| Adjusted R-squared | 0.13 | 0.13 |

 Table 13: Variables associated with grade 5 examination

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

4.2.3 School Test Performance

Table 14 reports the partial correlations between within-class and subject z-scores and key predictors. Since school-based tests are not comparable across schools we report only the results of a class and subject fixed effects model. The model predicts within class and subject variation on standardised achievement scores, using school-based tests and the results reported are the average within-class and within-subject effects. The vernacular literacy levels of adult household members are important for achievements in school tests in vernacular language. The literacy level in English of the interviewed adult household member is positively correlated with higher standardized scores for English. These findings suggest an apparent benefit of higher levels of related forms of adult education and child achievement.

Absence from school in 2008 is associated with lower scores in all subjects. While household portable assets are not significantly correlated with scores in any subject, educational assets at home are correlated with scores in maths and vernacular language. Larger household size is associated with lower performance in all subjects.

| | Maths | English | Language |
|-----------------------------|----------|-----------|-----------|
| Child characteristics | | | |
| Male child | 0.032 | -0.058 | -0.059 |
| Child's age | -0.082 | -0.142 | -0.104 |
| Health problems | 0.083 | -0.007 | 0.069 |
| Absence in 2008 (log) | -0.205** | -0.232*** | -0.266*** |
| Ever attended preschool | 0.187 | 0.101 | 0.075 |
| Attends private tuition | 0.178 | 0.102 | -0.046 |
| | | | |
| Household Characteristics | | | |
| Adult literacy vernacular | 0.006 | | 0.011* |
| Adult literacy English | | 0.016*** | |
| Educational assets | 0.133*** | 0.019 | 0.111*** |
| Household asset score | -0.008 | 0.049 | -0.043 |
| Housing index | 0.046 | 0.045 | 0.134 |
| Household size | -0.112** | -0.162*** | -0.108** |
| Gender of adult interviewee | -0.089 | -0.333 | -0.022 |
| Constant | 0.745 | 2.558** | 0.347 |
| Observations | 233 | 228 | 228 |
| R-squared | 0.13 | 0.15 | 0.15 |
| Number of classes | 22 | 21 | 21 |

Table 14: Variables associated with achievement in school tests (z-scores)

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

4.2.4 GCE O level Performance

Table 15 presents the results for achievement at the GCE O level examination. Because the numbers of observations of O-level results are quite small it is not useful to distinguish between communities.

The housing index (a proxy for economic status) is an important predictor of achievement in maths, English and language at GCE O level. Attendance at private tuition is important for achievement in Maths, and the level of the adult household member's literacy in English is important for achievement in English.

| Table 15: ` | Variables | associated | with | GCE | 0 | level results | 5 |
|-------------|-----------|------------|------|-----|---|---------------|---|
|-------------|-----------|------------|------|-----|---|---------------|---|

| | Maths | English | Language |
|-----------------------------|---------|---------|----------|
| | | | |
| Male | 0.279 | 0.168 | -0.148 |
| Child's age | 0.032 | 0.055 | -0.062 |
| Absence in 2008 (log) | 0.057 | 0.178 | 0.101 |
| Ever attended preschool | 0.611 | -0.783 | -0.096 |
| Attends private tuition | 1.240** | 0.458 | 0.611 |
| Housing index | 0.426** | 0.345** | 0.381** |
| Adult literacy vernacular | -0.005 | | -0.005 |
| Gender of adult Interviewee | -0.562 | -0.432 | -0.797 |
| Adult literacy English | | 0.033** | |
| Constant | 1.125 | 2.085 | 5.251*** |
| | | | |
| Observations | 53 | 53 | 53 |
| R-squared | 0.34 | 0.35 | 0.30 |

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

4.2.5 Attending Private Tuition

Because of its predictive power for academic achievement at Grade 5 and GCE O level in Maths we decided to explore the indicators associated with attending private tuition. Table 16 presents a probit analysis of variables associated with attendance at private tuition.

| | (1) | (2) |
|-----------------------------|-----------|-----------|
| Community effects included? | | |
| | No | Yes |
| | | |
| Madugalle | | -0.393*** |
| Park Estate | | -0.117* |
| | | |
| Child characteristics | | |
| Male | -0.011 | -0.009 |
| Child's age | 0.017*** | 0.016*** |
| Health problems | 0.042 | 0.053 |
| | | |
| Household characteristics | | |
| Adult literacy vernacular | 0.001 | 0.002 |
| Educational assets | 0.022* | 0.036*** |
| Household asset score | 0.024* | 0.011 |
| Housing index | 0.076*** | 0.015 |
| Household size | -0.033*** | -0.030** |
| Gender of interviewee | -0.054 | -0.035 |
| Observations | 500 | 500 |
| Pseudo R-squared | 0.105 | 0.134 |

| Table | 16: | Variables | associated | with | private t | uition (| (probit): | Marginal | effects |
|-------|-----|-----------|------------|------|-----------|----------|-----------|----------|---------|
| | | | | | p | | | | |

*** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

Without controlling for communities (Column 1), greater household assets, higher housing indices and greater educational asset levels are important correlates of the probability of a child attending private tuition. Older children are also more likely to attend, other things equal.

When community is controlled for (Column 2) the housing assets and housing index correlations lose significance, indicating that these household effects are community-related. Within communities, educational assets in the household remains correlated with attendance at private tuition. A larger household size is associated with a reduced probability of attending private tuition. There is no significant correlation between the levels of adult vernacular literacy and the probability of attending private tuition.

4.3 Synthesis of Findings

In this section we synthesise the results of the analyses reported separately above for each of the outcome variables. Our objective is to explore the patterns of effects of explanatory variables on the selected outcomes across and within communities. Table 17 summarises the significant associations found in the regression models reported above.

| | Absence | | Grade 5 | GCE O level | | | Private tuition |
|---------------------------|---------|------|---------|-------------|---|---|-----------------|
| | 2007 | 2008 | | Μ | Е | L | |
| Household | | | | | | | |
| Housing index | | - | | + | + | + | + |
| Household assets | - | - | | | | | + |
| Education assets at home | | | | | | | + |
| Household size | + | + | | | | | - |
| Adult literacy vernacular | - | - | + | | | | |
| Adult literacy English | | | | | + | | |
| Child | | | | | | | |
| Age | - | | + | | | | + |
| Attends private tuition | | | + | + | | | |
| Absence from school | | | | | | | |
| Health problems | + | + | | | | | |

 Table 17: Variables associated with absence and achievement outcomes across communities

Note that variations in school-based test performances cannot be analysed across communities

When data are pooled across the three communities we find a patterning of effects. The housing index is associated with lower absence from school, higher performance at GCE O level in maths, language and English and greater likelihood of attending private tuition. It does not appear to be related to performance on the Grade 5 examination. Household assets are also associated with less absence from school and private tuition but with neither Grade 5 nor GCE performance. And education assets at home are associated only with the likelihood of attending private tuition. Household size, an indicator of withinhousehold pressures on resources for education, shows a positive relationship with absence (children from larger families were absent more often) and a negative relationship with attendance at private tuition. In the case of the latter it is likely that the household income available to support tuition for each child is less in a larger household.

Household human capital measures in the form of adult literacy indicators also demonstrate effects in the expected direction. Higher levels of adult vernacular literacy are associated with lower levels of absenteeism and higher performance at Grade 5. Adult literacy in English is associated higher performance in GCE English. In contrast with studies that employ a single literacy score or years of schooling as a measure of generic literacy we have employed individually administered tests of adult literacy in mother tongue language and in English and have demonstrated the varied effects of different types of literacy on school performance. However, like the household economic measures above, the adult literacy effects are not found in relation to all outcome variables.

Child characteristics demonstrate some expected and unexpected results. Older children are more likely to have attended private tuition. This is not surprising given the use of private tuition to enhance performance in national examinations. But older children appear to be absent from school less often and to have performed better at Grade 5. There is no immediate explanation for the first finding, especially in view of the fact that most children lived close to the school. One possible explanation of the latter is shifts in the marking conventions and schemes employed in the Grade 5 examination over time. Children with health problems are likely to be absent from school more.

When variations in absence, achievement and private tuition are analysed within communities, some of the associations reported in Table 17 lose significance. Table 18

indicates the 'effects' of household and child variables that remain after controlling for the communities in which these children reside.

| | Absence | | Grade 5 | School tests | | | Private tuition |
|-------------------------|---------|------|---------|--------------|---|---|--------------------|
| | 2007 | 2008 | | М | Е | L | |
| Community | | | | | | | |
| | M - | - | | | | | M - |
| | N - | - | | | | | P - |
| Household | | | | | | | |
| Housing index | | - | | | | | |
| Household assets | | | | | | | |
| Education assets | | | | + | | + | + |
| Household size | | | | - | - | - | |
| Adult literacy | | | | | | + | |
| vernacular | | | | | | | |
| Adult literacy English | | | | | + | | |
| Child | | | | | | | |
| Age | - | | | | | | + |
| Attends private tuition | | | + | | | | |
| Absence from school | | | | - | - | - | |
| Health Problems | + | + | | | | | |

Table 18: Variables associated with absence and achievement outcomes within communities

The patterns of effects change when the effects of the community in which children resided are included. Most of the housing index effects lose significance, except for the effect on absence in 2008 which remains negative. While all the household assets effects disappear a positive relation between education assets and performance in school tests appears. The association between education assets at home and attendance at private tuition remains, irrespective of the community. Children with more education assets at home are more likely to attend private tuition. This may be a result of correlation with a 'common cause' at household level in the form of household preferences for education and for associated household human capital investment decisions. Children in larger families are more likely to perform less well in school tests, though there were no differences in the Grade 5 and GCE O level examinations. The absence of differences in the national examinations may be arising because of the small numbers of children in our samples for whom these measures are available. This deserves further exploration in the future.

The correlation between adult literacy in English and school test performance in English reflects the earlier finding reported in Table 17 for a correlation with GCE O level performance in English. And a correlation between adult literacy in the vernacular and GCE O level performance in vernacular language is found. These operate in the expected direction and underline the value of disaggregating the types of literacy skills of adults and of examining their relationships with different types of achievement outcome among their children.

The association between age and absence remains when modelling within communities as does the relationship between age and attendance at private tuition. The association between attendance at private tuition and Grade 5 performance also remains positive. But the relationship between age and performance in the Grade 5 examination becomes nonsignificant when modelling within communities

Absence from school is consistently related with poorer performance in school tests in all subjects, but not performance on the national examinations (across or within communities). While this may be due, once again, to the size of the samples, it may be that other factors are at work as well. Are school tests more syllabus-bound than national examinations, meaning that losses in coverage through absence are more critical in the school tests? Do children who are absent from school make up school syllabus deficits by attending private tuition? Do school teachers penalise absent children in their marking of school tests? Are private tutors more skilled at teaching and making good deficits in children's learning than regular school teachers?

Within communities health problems remain positively related with absence they are not correlated directly with other outcomes.

Overall we find relatively strong intra-community homogeneity or clustering of outcomes at the community level, which may be due to community and/or school-level factors. Comparing across communities, children living in Nachchaduwa were more likely to attend school and attend private tuition than in Madugalle and in Park. Children were least likely to attend school in Park and least likely to attend private tuition in Madugalle. In Table 11, the mean values of each variable were presented by community. The overall development of the community, as indicated by greater mean household asset scores, higher mean adult literacy in English and higher mean performance by children at the Grade 5 national examination is associated with school attendance. The overall wealth of a community, as indicated by housing indicators, is associated with the mean level of attendance at private tuition and mean levels of performance in the GCE O level examinations in Maths and English. In the case of Nachchaduwa, where the school was the most developed, it is known that at least one of the teachers runs private tuition classes outside the school in the afternoons. More economically and educationally advantaged communities can rely on children and young people's labour less for survival, are more likely to be able to afford the indirect costs of schooling and the direct costs of private tuition. Higher literacy levels among community members also create expectations among the next generation for school attendance, school performance and private tuition.

5. Conclusions

Historically, Sri Lanka has performed extremely well on a range of indicators of educational access. There are few, if any children, who do not enrol in primary education. Of these, very few drop out before the end of the primary cycle (Grade 5). Transition to the first grade of secondary (Grade 6) is very high. While dropout rates are negligibly low in Grades 1-5, they begin to increase in Grades 6-9. An estimated 93% of girls and 89% of boys complete Grade 9, the end of the basic education cycle. Sri Lanka's equity-oriented policies on education and her record in terms of access to education will be of interest to other countries in the South and South East Asia region.

Our rural community case studies bear witness to the fruits of those policies. Three of the four schools in which we worked were established in the 1920s and the fourth was functioning from at least the 1950s. Among the children and young people aged 5-16 years whom we surveyed, 98% were currently enrolled in school. Ninety two per cent of children had attended some form of pre-school education. Only 8% had been excluded from pre-school education (Zone 0). All children had entered school and just fourteen (2%) had dropped out of mainstream schooling (Zone 2).

In addition to the country-wide policies on free education, free textbooks, free school uniforms, free midday meals in the primary sections and transport subsidies, our school principals and teachers had introduced a range of practices to encourage enrolment, reduce dropout and increase achievement. They had succeeded in reducing significantly the numbers of children in the CREATE Zones of Exclusion. All children of school age had enrolled in school (Zone 1), just two had dropped during the primary stage of education (Zone 2) and eleven during the secondary stage (Zone 5). Only one child who had completed Grade 5 failed to make the transition to Grade 6 (Zone 4). These practices varied from school to school and are included in this report for the benefit of principals and teachers in other schools.

However, as we have seen in Section 4, there remain wide variations in attendance and learning achievement among the children who are enrolled in schooling. The CREATE model identifies Zones 3 and 6 as the zones of 'silent exclusion' where children are at risk of dropping out through poor attendance, repetition and achievement in the primary stage and secondary stages of education respectively. The extent to which a child is 'at risk' of dropping out is difficult to assess prospectively. However we know that in these communities dropout has been very low and concentrated in the secondary grades. The reasons given for that dropout were the child's dislike of school (from which we might infer an element of 'silent exclusion') and a range of household factors. We also know that a national policy of automatic promotion that ensures that children move with ease from grade to grade repetition rates are extremely low. Children generally move through the grades with their age cohort and only small numbers dropout. At the same time there are wide discrepancies in attendance and achievement. The mean attendance of our sample children in 2007 was 0.90 (SD = 0.10) and in 2008 0.87 (SD = 0.14). Among the 357 children in our sample who had sat the Grade 5 examination the mean score across the communities was 70.4 marks out of 200, with a substantial SD of 30.1. Nationally, mastery of basic learning competencies is not achieved by all children. In Section 1 we described how, nationally, 52% 'fail' First Language, 47% fail Mathematics and 81% fail English at Grade 4 levels of 'mastery'. We do not have Grade 4 results on these same national assessment tests for the children in our three communities but we know from the

Grade 5 results reported above that achievement levels vary widely. Many children have only the weakest of foundations for learning at subsequent stages. They may move on to subsequent grades of learning ill equipped with the necessary pre-requisites for learning. As we saw in the short account of school level practices introduced to improve achievement the principal of the Methodist school organised extra 'catch-up' classes for Grade 6 children admitted from some of the feeder primary schools.

We suggest that in future applications of the CREATE model to the Sri Lankan case we include two more Zones - 3A and 6A - to refer to those who are not at risk of dropping out of school (because national and school-based policies are able to retain them) but who are dropping out of learning because of a failure to achieve sufficient at one level to learn effectively at the next.

The use of statistical models capable of separating out the effects of community characteristics from the effect of household and child characteristics within each community has generated findings not usually reported in the Sri Lankan context. We have been able to demonstrate strong effects of the community on absenteeism and the likelihood of attending private tuition. However our design and our focus on just three communities do not enable us to infer which particular aspects of a community or school are generating the effects. It may in any case be a number of factors acting in combination rather than individual factors. Absenteeism was highest in the Park estate, where education and literacy levels of parents and household assets for education were lowest, STRs highest and grade 5 student achievement levels lowest. Attendance at private tuition was highest in Nachchaduwa where the general level of wealth (as indicated by the housing index and household assets) was highest, adult literacy scores in English highest and where the large school had been functioning with GCE A level classes for many years and with a favourable STR. In other words the Nachchaduwa school offered the most favourable educational culture of the three sites. It is also the case that the ethnic composition of our three communities was very different - Sinhala in Madugalle, Muslims in Nachchaduwa and plantation Tamils in Park. How much the ethnicity of the communities in which we have worked might have contributed to our community effects is impossible to judge within the research design employed. Nonetheless, with much larger numbers of schools and communities the design could be very powerful in separating out a wide range of school, community and household effects. The national assessments of learning, undertaken periodically by the National Educational Research and Evaluation Centre, could borrow ideas from this study, include more community, school and household measures in their survey designs and employ fixed effects statistical models to improve the explanations of differences in achievements in learning across the country.

Over the next ten years, Sri Lankan education policy must focus on increasing overall levels of learning achievement for all and reducing disparities in that achievement. The achievement of these twin goals requires policies and programmes additional to those noted above. The Ministry of Education is currently developing a new five year development plan - the *Education Sector Development Framework Plan 2012-2016* - to promote access, quality and equity. Measures under discussion include the upgrading of 1000 secondary schools across the country linked with a network of 4000 feeder primary schools, the introduction of child friendly approaches to primary education, the introduction of differentiated learning materials in maths at the secondary stage of education and multi-level teaching methodologies at primary, the expansion of school-

based teacher development as the primary means of continuing teacher development and direct grants to schools to improve education outcomes. It also includes actions to promote health among school age children.

Whether and how these new measures will impact on the three communities in our research remains to be seen. In principle, measures to improve health should have a positive effect on school attendance. In turn measures to improve school attendance should have a positive impact on performance in school-based assessments in each of our schools.

The 1000 secondary schools linked with 4000 primary feeder schools programme is unlikely to include the Madugalle school since it is small and isolated. It needs to be upgraded in its own right. However there is no doubt that a stronger primary section, ongoing upgrading of teacher skills in relation to delivering the official curriculum, and an increase in the amount and quality of formative assessment in the classroom would be of enormous benefit to primary school children as they master the foundations for the secondary grades. The Nachchaduwa school would benefit from upgrading to a Type 1AB school with improved facilities for the teaching of mathematics, science and computing. The Methodist school already admits students from a number of feeder primary schools and, as such, acts as the hub of a network. It is a prime case for development as a secondary school of high quality under the 1000 secondary schools programme. The Park school, which currently 'feeds in' students after Grade 9, could be transformed into a high quality primary school whose graduates could move on to an upgraded, high quality Type 1AB Methodist school nearby.

In all schools due attention must be given to teacher deployment. In none of the schools with which we have engaged has the official teacher cadre been filled. Although the STRs (ranging from 15.3:1 to 22.6:1) appear positive by international standards, many of the teachers are unqualified to teach the classes to which they are assigned. Shortages of teachers to teach maths, science, English and computing at the secondary level - and English at the primary level - are pronounced in all the schools studied.

Underpinning the new national and provincial programmes under discussion is a commitment by the Ministry to improve the deployment of qualified teachers and principals to schools in line with the needs of communities and schools. Historically and currently teacher deployment and teacher transfers are aspects of education in which Sri Lankan politicians and community members demonstrate considerable interest. Individual interests often override the interests of communities and schools. Increasing access to high quality education for all in rural Sri Lanka requires concerted action by communities, school principals and teachers, education officials and politicians.

The continuing quest for social equity in a school system fashioned by a longstanding political rhetoric of equality of educational opportunity will persist well into the twenty first century. At just 1.86% of GDP, Sri Lanka's government expenditure on education remains very low by the standards of middle income countries. An increase to 2.5-3.0% would release considerable resources to improve standards for all children and reduce disparities. In some respects our findings suggest that households, communities and schools system is doing a good job of ensuring equality of opportunity. The housing index and household assets index, our proxies for wealth and poverty, were not associated with exclusion in every zone. A surprisingly high percentage of all children in

the households we studied had attended some form of pre-school education, though we know nothing about the standard of education provided nor the standard of children's competencies on entering school. We know that the numbers of dropouts from both the primary and post primary stages of education up to the GCE O level at Grade 11 were very low. And, unlike national figures on academic performance, which show an advantage for girls, we found that boys in our samples did not appear to be underperforming relative to girls.

In other respects, however, the school system is reproducing socio-economic disadvantage. Within our three case communities, the children of the poorest families are likely to attend school less often and to perform worse at the high-stakes GCE O level examinations. Children in the largest families are likely to perform worst on school tests, children with parents literate in the vernacular are likely to perform better at the Grade 5 scholarship examination and on school-based language tests, and children with parents literate in English are likely to perform better in the subject of English in both school tests and the GCE O level examination. As the goal posts of access to education and higher education shift ever upwards so the quest for reduction of disparities in education at all levels must and will be pursued relentlessly.

Compared to other countries at a similar level of economic development, educational exclusion among children aged 5-16 years is somewhat less pervasive in Sri Lanka, where the more obvious measures are concerned. Exclusion is more typically within than outside the school. While there are doubtless important benefits of access to education *per se*, which is almost universal, many of the extrinsic/instrumental benefits of education depend on its role as a positional good i.e. on it ability to distribute life chances. Issues of equity become as important as those of access. Our findings show that while almost all children gain access and remain in school to the age of sixteen years, inequity is apparent along well-established socio-economic dimensions.

References

- Aturupane, H. (2009). *The Pearl of Great Price: Achieving Equitable Access to Primary and Secondary Education and Enhancing Learning in Sri Lanka*. Create Pathways to Access Research Monograph 29, London, U.K.
- Department of Census and Statistics (2003) *Household Income and Expenditure Survey preliminary report* 2002, Colombo.
- Department of Census and Statistics (2011) *Household Income and Expenditure Survey* 2009/10, Colombo.
- Hettige, S.T. (1992) 'Economic gains and social cost of West Asian migration: the case of Nachchaduwa', *Marga Quarterly Journal* 12(2): 1-17.
- Jayasuriya, J.E. (1979) Educational Policies and Progress during British Rule in Ceylon, 1796-1948, Colombo, Associated Educational Publishers.
- Jayeweera, S. Sanmugam, T. and Ratnapala, C. (2001) Child Labour and Non Schooling in Selected Locations in Low Income Communities in Sri Lanka, *CENWOR Study Series No.25*, Colombo, Centre for Women's Research.
- Jayeweera, S. Gunawardene, C. and Maunaguru, C. (2004) Survey of Non-School Going Children and Children with Irregular Attendance, Colombo, Save the Children Fund.
- Korale, R.M.B. (2004) Sectoral Review of General Education: Provision and Participation in Primary and Secondary Education, Colombo, National Education Commission.
- Little, A. W. (1999) Labouring to Learn: towards a political economy of people, plantations and education in Sri Lanka, London, Macmillan.
- Little, A.W. (various years) *Globalisation, Qualifications and Livelihoods*, Research Report Series Editor, ELDIS see http://www.eldis.org/cf/search/disp/DocDisplay.cfm?Doc=DOC23458. See also DOC23329,23352,23365,23411,23453,23454,23456,23458,23459,23460,23548,23 549,23550,23552,23557,23461,23563,23565, 23567
- Little, A W. (2010) *The Politics, Politics and Progress of Basic Education in Sri Lanka*, CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph, 38, London, U.K.
- Ministry of Education (forthcoming) Education Sector Development Plan, 2012-2016, Isurupaya, Sri Lanka.
- National Education Research and Evaluation Centre (NEREC) (2005) National Assessment of Achievement of Grade 8 & 10 Students in Sri Lanka. University of Colombo, Sri Lanka.

- National Education Research and Evaluation Centre (NEREC) (2007) National Assessment of Achievement of Grade 4 Students in Sri Lanka. University of Colombo, Sri Lanka.
- National Education Research and Evaluation Centre (NEREC) (2008) National Assessment of Achievement of Grade 8 Students in Sri Lanka. University of Colombo, Sri Lanka.
- National Education Research and Evaluation Centre (NEREC) (2009) National Assessment of Achievement of Grade 4 Students in Sri Lanka. Colombo, Sri Lanka.
- World Bank, 2011 Transforming School Education in Sri Lanka: from cut stones to polished jewels, Colombo.



CREATE publications November 2011

COUNTRY ANALYTIC REVIEWS

- Bangladesh. Ahmed, M., Ahmed, K.S., Khan, N.I. and Ahmed, R. (2007) Access to Education in Bangladesh: Country Analytic Review of Primary and Secondary School. CREATE Country Analytic Review. Dhaka/Brighton: BU-IED/ University of Sussex.
- Ghana. Akyeampong, K., Djangmah, J., Seidu, A., Oduro, A. and Hunt, F. (2007) Access to Basic Education in Ghana: The Evidence and the Issues. CREATE Country Analytic Review. Winneba/ Brighton: The University of Education at Winneba/ University of Sussex.
- India. Govinda, R. and Bandyopadhyay, M. (2008) Access to Elementary Education in India: Country Analytical Review. CREATE Country Analytic Review. Delhi/Brighton: NUEPA/ University of Sussex.
- South Africa. Motala, S., Dieltiens, V., Carrim, N., Kgobe, P., Moyo, G. and Rembe, S. (2007) *Educational Access in South Africa: Country Analytic Report.* CREATE Country Analytic Review. Johannesburg/Brighton: University of the Witwatersrand EPU/ University of Sussex.

PATHWAYS TO ACCESS SERIES, RESEARCH MONOGRAPHS

- PTA1. Lewin, K. M. (2007) *Improving Access, Equity and Transitions in Education: Creating a Research Agenda*. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 1. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA2. Pridmore, P. (2007) The Impact of Health on Education Access and Achievement: A Cross-National Review of the Research Evidence. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 2. London: Institute of Education.
- PTA3. Rose, P. (2007) NGO Provision of Basic Education: Alternative or Complementary Service Delivery to Support Access to the Excluded? CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 3. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA4. Rose, P. (2007) Supporting Non-state Providers in Basic Education Service Delivery. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 4. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA5. Lewin, K.M. (2007) *The Limits to Growth of Non-Government Private Schooling in Sub Saharan Africa.* CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 5. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA6. Dunne, M., Akyeampong, K. and Humphreys, S. (2007) *School Processes, Local Governance and Community Participation: Understanding Access.* CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 6. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA7. Lewin, K.M. (2007) *Long Term Planning for EFA and the MDGs: Modes and Mechanisms*. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 7. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA8. Lewin, K.M. (2007) *Expanding Access to Secondary Schooling in Sub-Saharan Africa: Key Planning and Finance Issues*. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 8. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA9. Somerset, A. (2007) A Preliminary Note on Kenya Primary School Enrolment Trends over Four Decades. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 9. Brighton: University of Sussex.

- PTA10. Oketch, M. and Rolleston, C. (2007) Policies on Free Primary and Secondary Education in East Africa. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 10. London: Institute of Education.
- PTA11. Lall, M. (2007) A Review of Concepts from Policy Studies Relevant to the Analysis of EFA in Developing Countries. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 11. London: Institute of Education.
- PTA12. Al-Samarrai, S. (2007) *Financing Basic Education in Bangladesh*. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 12. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA13. Little, A. (2008) *EFA Politics, Policies and Progress.* CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 13. London: Institute of Education.
- PTA14. Laugharn, P. (2007) Negotiating Education for Many: Enrolment, Dropout and Persistence in the Community Schools of Kolondieba, Mali. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 14. London: Institute of Education.
- PTA15. Giffard-Lindsay, K. (2007) *Inclusive Education in India: Interpretation, Implementation, and Issues.* CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 15. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA16. Hunt, F. (2008) *Dropping Out from School: A Cross Country Review of the Literature*. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 16. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA17. Blum, N. and Diwan, R. (2007) *Small, Multigrade Schools and Increasing Access to Primary Education in India: National Context and NGO Initiatives.* CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 17. Delhi/London: NUEPA/ Institute of Education.
- PTA18. Bandyopadhyay, M. and Subrahmanian, R. (2008) *Gender Equity in Education: A Review of Trends and Factors*. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 18. Delhi/Brighton: NUEPA/University of Sussex.
- PTA19. Sedwal, M. and Kamat, S. (2008) *Education and Social Equity: With a Special Focus on Scheduled Castes and Scheduled Tribes in Elementary Education*. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 19. Delhi/Brighton: NUEPA/University of Sussex.
- PTA20. Alexander, R. (2008) EFA, the Quality Imperative and the Problem of Pedagogy. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 20. London: Institute of Education.
- PTA21. Ohba, A. (2009) Does free secondary education enable the poor to gain access? A study from rural Kenya. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 21. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA22. Rolleston, C. (2009) *Human Capital, Poverty, Educational Access and Exclusion: The Case of Ghana 1991-2006.* CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 22. London: Institute of Education.
- PTA23. Harma, J. (2010) School choice for the poor? The limits of marketisation of primary education in rural India. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 23. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA24. Lafon, M. (2009) *The Impact of Language Issues on Educational Access in South Africa.* CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 24. Johannesburg/ Brighton: Wits EPU/ University of Sussex.
- PTA25. Sood, N. (2009) The Impact of Malnutrition on Cognition and the Education of Children in India: A Review of Research Evidence. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 25. Delhi/Brighton: NUEPA/University of Sussex.
- PTA26. Little, A. (2008) *Size Matters for EFA*. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 26. London: Institute of Education.
- PTA27. Fleish, B. and Shindler, J. (2009) School participation from 'Birth-to-Twenty': Patterns of schooling in an urban child cohort study in South Africa. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 27. Johannesburg/ Brighton: Wits EPU/ University of Sussex.

- PTA28. Smita (2008) *Distress Seasonal Migration and its Impact on Children's Education in India*. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 28. Delhi/Brighton: NUEPA/ University of Sussex.
- PTA29. Aturupane, H. (2009) *The Pearl of Great Price: achieving equitable access to primary and secondary education and enhancing learning in Sri Lanka.* CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 29. London: Institute of Education.
- PTA30. Turrent, V. (2009) *Expanding Support for Education in Fragile States: what role for Fast Track Initiative?* CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 30. London: Institute of Education.
- PTA31. Hadley, S. (2009) Seasonality and Access to Education: the case of primary education in sub-Saharan Africa. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 31. London: Institute of Education.
- PTA32. Juneja, N. (2010) Access to What? Access, Diversity & Participation in India's schools. Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 32. Delhi/Brighton: NUEPA/University of Sussex.
- PTA33. Akyeampong, K. (2010) 50 Years of Educational Progress and Challenge in Ghana. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 33. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA34. Sabur, Z. and Ahmed, M. (2010) *Debating Diversity in Provision of Universal Primary Education in Bangladesh*. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 34. Dhaka/Brighton: BRAC/University of Sussex.
- PTA35. Govinda, R. and Bandyopadhyay, M. (2009) Changing Framework of Local Governance and Community Participation in Elementary Education. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 35. Delhi/Brighton: NUEPA/University of Sussex.
- PTA36. Croft, A. (2010) Including Disabled Children in Learning: Challenges in Developing Countries. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 36. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA37. Oketch, M and Somerset, A (2010) Free Primary Education and After in Kenya: Enrolment impact, quality effects, and the transition to secondary school. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 37. London: Institute of Education/University of Sussex.
- PTA38. Little, A. (2010) *The Politics, Policies and Progress of Basic Education in Sri Lanka.* CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 38. London: Institute of Education.
- PTA39. Wang, X.G. (2010) *Girls' Access to Education in China: Actors, Cultures and the Windmill of Development Management.* CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 39. London: Institute of Education.
- PTA40. Reddy, A and Sinha S. (2010) School Dropouts or Pushouts? Overcoming Barriers for the Right to Education. Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 40. Delhi/Brighton: NUEPA/ University of Sussex.
- PTA41. Dunne, M., Bosumtwi, S., Sabates, R., Owusu., A. (2010) Bullying and School Attendance: A Case Study of Senior High School Students in Ghana. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 41. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA42. Little, A. (2010) Access to Basic Education in Ghana: politics, policies and progress. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 42. London: Institute of Education.
- PTA43. Seidu, A. and Adzahlie-Mensah, V. (2010) Teachers and Access to Schooling in Ghana. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 43. Winneba/Brighton: University of Education, Winneba/University of Sussex.
- PTA44. Little, A. (2010) Access to Elementary Education in India: Politics, Policies and Progress. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 44. London: Institute of Education.
- PTA45. Cameron, S. (2010) Access to and Exclusion from Primary Education in Slums of Dhaka, Bangladesh. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 45. Brighton: University of Sussex.

- PTA46. Williams, S.E. (2010) Exploring the Viability of School-Based Support for Vulnerable Children: A case study of two township schools in Johannesburg. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 46. Johannesburg/ Brighton: Wits EPU/ University of Sussex
- PTA47. Taylor, N, Mabogoane, T, Shindler, J and Akoobhai, B. (2010) Seeds of Their Struggle: The Features of Under- and Overage Enrolment Among Grade 4 Learners in South Africa. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 47. Johannesburg/ Brighton: Wits EPU/ University of Sussex
- PTA48. Hossain, A. (2010) Age in Grade Congruence and Progression in Basic Education in Bangladesh. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 48. Dhaka/Brighton: BRAC/University of Sussex.
- PTA49. Sabates, R, Hossain, A., Lewin, K. M., (2010) School Drop Out in Bangladesh: New Insights from Longitudinal Evidence CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 48. Dhaka/Brighton: BRAC/University of Sussex.
- PTA50. Siddhu, G., (2010) Can Families in Rural India Bear the Additional Burden of Secondary Education? Investigating the Determinants of Transition, CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 50. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA51. Hossain, A. and Zeitlyn, B., (2010), Poverty and Equity: Access to Education in Bangladesh, CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 51. Dhaka/Brighton: BRAC/University of Sussex.
- PTA52. Lewin, K. M., and Sabates, R. (2011) Changing Patterns of Access to Education in Anglophone and Francophone Countries in Sub Saharan Africa: Is Education for All Pro-Poor? CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 52. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA53. Lewin, K. M, (2011) Beyond Universal Access to Elementary Education in India: Is it Achievable at Affordable Costs? CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 53. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA54. Lewin, K. M., (2011) Taking Targets to Task Revisited: How Indicators of Progress on Access to Education can Mislead, CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 54. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA55. Ananga, E., (2011) Dropping Out of School in Southern Ghana: The Push-out and Pullout Factors, CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 55. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA56. Obanya, P. (2011) Politics and the Dilemma of Meaningful Access to Education: The Nigerian Story, CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 55. London: Institute of Education
- PTA57. Ahmed, M. (2011) The Sector-wide Approach in Bangladesh Primary Education: A Critical View, CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 57. Dhaka: BRAC.
- PTA58. Sharma, A., (2011) South Asian Nomads A Literature Review, CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 58. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA59. Rolleston, C., (2011) *Fosterage and Access to Schooling in Savelugu-Nanton, Ghana,* CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 59. London: Institute of Education.
- PTA60 Orkin, K., (2011) 'If God wills...next year I will send her back to school': The Effects of Child and Parental Illness on School Participation in Rural Ethiopia, CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 60. London: Institute of Education
- PTA61 Lewin, K. M., Lu, Wang (2011) *Education and Change in Rich, Poor and National Minority Areas in China Two Decades of Transition,* CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 61. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA62 Sabates, R., Westbrook, J., Hernandez-Fernandez, J (2011) *The Health and Education Benefits of Universal Primary Education for the Next Generation: Evidence from Tanzania,* CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 62. Brighton: University of Sussex.

- PTA63 Biswal, K (2011) Secondary Education in India: Development Policies, Programmes and Challenges, CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 63. Delhi/Brighton: NUEPA/ University of Sussex.
- PTA64 Sabates, Hernandez-Fernandez (2011) *The role of maternal education during educational expansion for children in Sub-Saharan Africa.* CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 64. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA65 Govinda, R., Bandyopadhyay, M (2011) *Overcoming Exclusion through Quality Schooling,* CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 65. Delhi/Brighton: NUEPA/ University of Sussex.
- PTA66 Ampiah J.G., Adu-Yeboah, C (2011) Understanding the Social and Economic Lives of Never-enrolled Children: A Case Study of Communities in Northern and Southern Ghana, CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 66. Accra/Brighton: University of Cape Coast Ghana/ University of Sussex.
- PTA67 Bermingham D (2011) The Interactions between Global Education Initiatives and National Education Policy and Planning Processes: A Comparative Case Study of the Education for all Fast Track Initiative in Rwanda and Ethiopia. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 67. London: Institute of Education.
- PTA68 Buxton C (2011) The Impact of Malnutrition on Access to Primary Education: Case Studies from Ghana. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 68. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PT69 Akaguri L (2011) *Quality Low-Fee Private Schools for the Rural Poor: Perception or reality? Evidence from Southern Ghana.* CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 69. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA70 Mwansa A (2011) Re-entry to School after Giving Birth: An Evaluation of the Process used to Design and Implement Policy in Zambia. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 70. London: Institute of Education.
- PTA71 Akyeampong A (2011 (*Re*)*Assessing the Capitation of School Capitation Grants on Education Access in Ghana.* CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 71. Brighton: University of Sussex.
- PTA72 Rolleston C., Akyeampong K., Ampiah J.G., Lewin K.M (2011) *Access, Transitions and Equity in Education in Ghana.* CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 72. Accra/Brighton: University of Cape Coast Ghana/ University of Sussex.
- PTA73 Little A., Indika H.N.U., Rolleston C (2011) *Access, Attendance and Achievement in Rural Schools in Sri Lanka.* CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 73. London: Institute of Education.
- PTA74 Lewin K.M., Somerset H.C.A., Wasanga P., Wanderi E (2011) Participation and Performance in Education in Sub-Saharan Africa with special reference to Kenya: Improving Policy and Practice. CREATE Pathways to Access Research Monograph No. 74. Brighton: University of Sussex.

COUNTRY POLICY BRIEFS AND RESEARCH SUMMARIES

- Educational Access in South Africa 2008 / 2010
- Educational Access in Bangladesh 2008 / 2010
- Educational Access in Ghana 2008 / 2010
- Educational Access in India 2009 / 2010

INTERNATIONAL POLICY BRIEFS

- Policy Brief No 1: Reconceptualising Access to Education
- Policy Brief No 2: Access, Age and Grade

- Policy Brief No 3: Impact of Health in Education Access and Achievement
- Policy Brief No 4: Size Matters for EFA
- Policy Brief No 5: Increasing Access through Multigrade Teaching and Learning
- Policy Brief No 8: Dropping out from School

BANGLADESH POLICY BRIEFS

- Policy Brief No 1: Education for the Urban Poor in Bangladesh
- Policy Brief No. 2: Equity and Access to Education in Bangladesh
- Policy Brief No. 3: Diverse Providers of Primary Education in Bangladesh
- Policy Brief No. 4: Applying a Workable Education SWAP in Bangladesh
- Policy Brief No. 5: Access to Education and Age in Grade in Bangladesh
- Policy Brief No. 6: Preventing Dropout in Bangladesh

GHANA POLICY BRIEFS

- Policy Brief No 1: Typologies of Drop Out in Southern Ghana
- Policy Brief No 2: Complementary Education and Access to Primary Schooling in Northern Ghana
- Policy Brief No 3: Public and Private Schooling in Rural Ghana: Are the Poor Being Served?
- Policy Brief No 4: Fosterage and Educational Access Among the Dagomba of Savelugu-Nanton, Ghana

INDIA POLICY BRIEFS

- Policy Brief No. 1: Pre Primary Education in India
- Policy Brief No. 2: The Limits of Marketisation of Primary Education in India
- Policy Brief No. 3: Absenteeism, Repetition and Silent Exclusion in India
- Policy Brief No. 4: Effective School Management Committees
- Policy Brief No. 5: Teachers and Teaching in India

SOUTH AFRICA POLICY BRIEFS

- Policy Brief No 1: "No fee" schools in South Africa
- Policy Brief No 2: The Education Roadmap in South Africa
- Policy Brief No 3: Access to Learning Mathematics Performance in Schools in Gauteng and Eastern Cape
- Policy Brief No. 4: Parental Participation and Meaningful Access in South African Schools
- Policy Brief No. 5: At School But Not Learning: A Day in the Life of South African Learners

JOURNAL ARTICLES

Special Edition on CREATE: Comparative Education Special Issue (2009) Access to Education in Sub-Saharan Africa. Keith M Lewin and Kwame Akyeampong (editors) Vol. 45 (2)

• Lewin, K and K. Akyeampong: Education in sub-Saharan Africa: researching access, transitions and equity (editorial)

- Lewin, K: Access to education in sub-Saharan Africa: patterns, problems and possibilities
- Akyeampong, K.: Revisiting Free Compulsory Universal Basic Education (FCUBE) in Ghana
- Rolleston, C.: The determination of exclusion: evidence from the Ghana Living Standards Surveys 1991–2006
- Ghartey Ampiah, J. and C. Adu-Yeboah: Mapping the incidence of school dropouts: a case study of communities in Northern Ghana
- Somerset, A.: Universalising primary education in Kenya: the elusive goal
- Motala, S., Dieltiens, V. and Y. Sayed: Physical access to schooling in South Africa: mapping dropout, repetition and age-grade progression in two districts
- Fleisch, B. and J. Shindler: Gender repetition: school access, transitions and equity in the 'Birth-to-Twenty' cohort panel study in urban South Africa
- Gilmour, D. and C. Soudien: Learning and equitable access in the Western Cape, South Africa
- Chimombo, J. Changing patterns of access to basic education in Malawi: a story of a mixed bag?

Special Edition on CREATE: Access to Basic Education in Sub Saharan Africa and South Asia Policies, Politics and Progress Angela W. Little and Keith M. Lewin (editors) Journal of Educational Policy Vol 26:4 201

- Essuman, A., and Akyeampong, K., (2011) Decentralisation Policy in Practice in Ghana: the promise and reality of community participation in education in two rural communities
- Little, A. W., (2011) Education Policy Reform in Sri Lanka: the double-edged sword of political will
- Somerset, A., (2011) Access, Cost and Quality: tensions among three goals in the development of primary education in Kenya
- Hoppers, W., (2011) The Politics of Diversifying Basic Education Delivery: a comparative analysis from East Africa
- Ward, M., (2011) Aid to Education: the case of Sarva Shiksha Abhiyan in India and the role of development partners
- Bermingham, D., (2011) The Politics of Global Education Policy: the formation of the Education for All Fast Track Initiative
- Lewin, K. M., (2011) Target Setting and Target Getting in EFA Policy and in EFA Practice

Special Edition on CREATE:. Access, Equity and Transitions in Education in Low Income Countries . Keith Lewin, Angela Little and Frances Hunt (editors), International Journal of Educational Development. Vol 31:4.

- Lewin, K. M. and Little, A., (2011) Access to education revisited: Equity, drop out and transitions to secondary school in South Asia and Sub-Saharan Africa, 333-337
- Ananga, E., (2011) Typology of School Dropout: the Dimensions and Dynamics of Dropout in Ghana, 374-381
- Akaguri, L., and Akyeampong, K., (2011) Fee-free public or low-fee private basic education in rural Ghana: What does it cost the poor?
- Buckland, S., (2011) Uncovering South Africa's 'New Apartheid': The challenges to Educational Access for Non-nationals in South Africa, 367-373
- Cameron, S., (2011) Whether and where to enrol: choosing a primary school in the slums of Dhaka, Bangladesh, 357-366
- Härmä, J., (2011) Low Cost Private schooling in India: Is it Pro Poor and Equitable? 350-356
- Lewin, K. M., (2011) Expanding access to secondary education: Can India catch up? 382-393
- Ohba, A., (2011) Abolition of secondary school fees in Kenya: Responses by the poor, 402-408

- Rolleston, C., (2011) Educational Access and Poverty Reduction: The Case of Ghana 1991-2006, 338-349
- Siddhu, G., (2011) Who makes it to secondary school? Determinants of transition to secondary schools in rural India, 394-401
- Turrent, V., (2011) Expanding Support for Education in Fragile States: What Role for the Education for All Fast Track Initiative? 409-416

Special Edition on CREATE: Universal primary education in South Asia: A right that remains elusive, R. Govinda and Manzoor Ahmed (editors) Prospects, Vol. 40, No. 3,

- Acedo, C., (2010) Expanding access to education with equity in South Asia,
- Sen , A., (2010) Primary schooling in West Bengal, Prospects, Vol. 40, No. 3
- Ahmed, M., and Govinda, R., (2010) Introduction, Universal primary education in South Asia: A right that remains elusive,
- Govinda, R., and Bandyopadhyay, M., (2010) Social exclusion and school participation in India: Expanding access with equity,
- Lohani, S., Balak Singh, R., and Lohani, J., (2010) Universal primary education in Nepal: Fulfilling the right to education,
- Jaffer, K., (2010) School inspection and supervision in Pakistan: Approaches and issues, *Prospects*, Vol. 40, No. 3
- Us-Sabur, Z., and Ahmed, M., (2010) Multiple providers and access to primary education: The case of Bangladesh,
- Ginsburg, C., Richter, L.M., Fleisch, B. and Norris, S.A. (2010) An analysis of associations between residential and school mobility and educational outcomes in South African urban children: The Birth to Twenty cohort.
- Fleisch, B, Shindler, J and Perry, H. (2010) Who is out of school? Evidence from the Community Survey 2007, South Africa.

• Other Journal Articles

- Blum, N. (2009) Small NGO schools in India: implications for access and innovation. Compare. Vol. 39 (2).
- Motala, S. (2009) Privatising public schooling in post-apartheid South Africa equity considerations. Compare. Vol. 39 (2).
- Motala, S. and V. Dieltiens (2008) Caught in the ideological crossfire: private schooling in South Africa. Southern African Review of Education. Vol. 14 (3).
- Lewin, K. (2007) Why some Education for All and millennium development goals will not be met: Difficulties with goals and targets. Southern African Review of Education. Vol. 13 (2).
- Rolleston, C. and M. Oketch (2008) Educational Expansion in Ghana: Economic Assumptions and Expectations. International Journal of Educational Development. Vol. 28.
- Oketch, M. and C. Rolleston (2007) Policies on Free Primary and Secondary Education in East Africa: Retrospect and Prospect. Review of Research in Education. Vol. 31.

Books

- R. Govinda (ed), (2011) 'Who Goes to School? Exploring Exclusion in Indian Education', Oxford University Press, Delhi, India (2011).
- Manzoor Ahmed (ed), 2011) 'Education in Bangladesh: Overcoming Hurdles to Equity and Quality', BRAC University Press, Dhaka, Bangladesh (2011).
- Shireen Motala, Veerle Dieltiens, Yusuf Sayed (eds) (2011) 'Finding Place and Keeping Pace? Exploring Meaningful and Equitable Learning in South African Schools'. Human Sciences Research Council (HSRC) Press, Pretoria, South Africa.
- Lalage Bown (ed), (2009), Maintaining Universal Primary Education: Lessons from Commonwealth Africa. Commonwealth Secretariat, London
- Keith M Lewin (2012) Educational Access, Equity and Development: Issues for Planners. International Institute of Educational Planning, UNESCO, Paris.
- Keith M Lewin (2011) Making Rights Realities: Researching Eduational Access, Transitions and Equity. Consortium for Research on Educational Access, Transitions and Equity (CREATE), Centre for International Education, University of Sussex.



Report summary:

Historically, Sri Lanka has performed well on most indicators of progress towards Education for All and the Millennium Development Goals. Nationally, enrolment in some form of pre-school provision is high, enrolment in primary education near universal and completion of nine years of compulsory, basic education is around 90%. At the same time, achievement levels are low, with disparities between provinces, type of school attended, location, medium of instruction and gender. The CREATE model is used to describe access to education in three diverse rural communities comprising 397 households, 1,952 household members and 657 children aged 5-16 years. Household survey interviews were complemented by interviews with local officials, school principals and teachers and by analysis of school records. School level practices designed to improve attendance and achievement are described. There were marked differences between communities in levels of absenteeism and participation in private tuition. Within communities, student achievement at Grade 5 performance is associated positively with the vernacular literacy level of the adult household member and attendance at private tuition. Performance on school-based tests is associated negatively with absence from school and household size, and positively with education assets at home and adult literacy in the vernacular and in English. Performance in the GCE O level examination is associated with the housing index, with private tuition and with adult literacy in English. Attendance at private tuition is associated positively with the availability of education assets at home and negatively with household size. Absenteeism is associated with economic status, as indicated by a housing index, and health problems. The main challenges facing Sri Lanka currently lie in increasing the achievement levels of all social groups and in reducing dropout in the early secondary grades. Disparities need to be reduced between girls and boys, between urban and rural areas, between school types and between income groups in terms of enrolment in junior secondary and senior secondary education.

Author notes:

Angela W. Little is Professor Emerita at the Institute of Education, University of London and directed the London partnership with CREATE between 2006 and 2010. She has written extensively on education in Sri Lanka, including Labouring to Learn: towards a political economy of plantations, people and education in Sri Lanka (Macmillan, 1999), Primary Education Reform in Sri Lanka (Ed.) (Education Publications Department, Government of Sri Lanka, 2002), Education policy reform in Sri Lanka: the double-edged sword of political will (Journal of Education Policy, 26, 4, 2011) and The Politics, Policies and Progress of Basic Education in Sri Lanka (CREATE Monograph no 38, 2010).

Upul Indika has been a teacher in a Pirivena school in Sri Lanka for 20 years and is qualified in Pali and Sanskrit. He has also been an education researcher since 1998. He coordinated the field work on access to education in rural communities reported in this monograph and worked previously with the Institute of Education and University of Colombo on the Globalisation, Qualifications and Livelihoods research project.

Caine Rolleston is currently an Education Researcher at the Young Lives Project, University of Oxford and worked previously with CREATE on both Ghana and Sri Lanka. He recently completed his doctorate on education and poverty relationships in Ghana and has written on human capital theory, educational access and education finance.

Address for Correspondence:

CREATE, Centre for International Education Department of Education, School of Education & Social Work Essex House, University of Sussex, Falmer, BN1 9QQ, UK. Website: <u>http://www.create-rpc.org</u> / Email: create@sussex.ac.uk













